THE ANOMALY FLOW ON NILMANIFOLDS

MATTIA PUJIA* AND LUIS UGARTE

ABSTRACT. We study the Anomaly flow on 2-step nilmanifolds with respect to any Hermitian connection in the Gauduchon line. In the case of flat holomorphic bundle, the general solution to the Anomaly flow is given for any initial invariant Hermitian metric. The solutions depend on two constants K_1 and K_2 , and we study the qualitative behaviour of the Anomaly flow in terms of their signs, as well as the convergence in Gromov-Hausdorff topology. The sign of K_1 is related to the conformal invariant introduced by Fu, Wang and Wu. In the non-flat case, we find the general evolution equations of the Anomaly flow under certain initial assumptions. This allows us to detect non-flat solutions to the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system on a concrete nilmanifold, which appear as stationary points of the Anomaly flow with respect to the Strominger-Bismut connection.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Preliminaries	4
2.1. Adapted bases	5
2.2. Trace of the curvature	7
3. The first Anomaly flow equation on nilpotent Lie groups	10
3.1. Special Hermitian metrics along the flow	12
3.2. Reduction to almost diagonal initial metrics and the general solution	13
4. The Anomaly flow with flat holomorphic bundle	15
4.1. Qualitative behaviour of the model problem	15
4.2. The sign of K_1 and its relation to the Fu-Wang-Wu conformal invariant	18
4.3. Convergence of the nilmanifolds	19
5. Evolution of the holomorphic vector bundle	20
5.1. Anomaly flow on N_3 and solutions to the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system	23
6. Appendix A	27
7. Appendix B	29
References	32

1. Introduction

The Anomaly flow is a coupled flow of Hermitian metrics introduced by Phong, Picard and Zhang in [30]. The flow, which was originally proposed as a new tool to detect explicit solutions to the

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 53C44; Secondary 53C15, 53B15, 53C30.

Key words and phrases. Anomaly flow; Hull-Strominger system; Nilmanifolds.

The first-named author was partially supported by G.N.S.A.G.A. of I.N.d.A.M. The second-named author was supported by the projects MTM2017-85649-P (AEI/FEDER, UE), and E22-20R "Álgebra y Geometría" (Gobierno de Aragón/FEDER).

Hull-Strominger system, leads to some interesting problems in complex non-Kähler geometry and its study is just began [7, 9, 10, 31, 32, 33, 34].

Let X be a 3-dimensional complex manifold equipped with a nowhere vanishing (3,0)-form Ψ and a holomorphic vector bundle $\pi: E \to X$. In this paper we consider the coupled flow of Hermitian metrics (ω_t, H_t) , with ω_t on X and H_t along the fibers of E, given by

$$\partial_{t}(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_{t}}\,\omega_{t}^{2}) = i\partial\overline{\partial}\omega_{t} - \frac{\alpha'}{4}\left(\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_{t}^{\tau}\wedge Rm_{t}^{\tau}) - \operatorname{Tr}(A_{t}^{\kappa}\wedge A_{t}^{\kappa})\right),$$

$$H_{t}^{-1}\partial_{t}\,H_{t} = \frac{\omega_{t}^{2}\wedge A_{t}^{\kappa}}{\omega_{t}^{3}},$$

$$(1)$$

where Rm^{τ} and A^{κ} are, respectively, the curvature tensors of Gauduchon connections ∇^{τ} on (X, ω_t) and ∇^{κ} on (E, H_t) , and $\alpha' \in \mathbb{R}$ is the so-called *slope parameter*.

Phong, Picard and Zhang proved that, if the connections ∇^{τ} and ∇^{κ} in (1) are both Chern, then the flow preserves the *conformally balanced* condition $d(\|\Psi\|_{\omega} \omega^2) = 0$ and, under an extra assumption on the initial metric ω_0 , it is well-posed [30]. If furthermore ω_0 is conformally balanced and the flow is defined for every $t \in [0, \infty)$, then its limit points $(\omega_{\infty}, H_{\infty})$ are automatically solutions to the Hull-Strominger system [30].

More generally, any stationary solution to the Anomaly flow (1), satisfying the conformally balanced condition and for which the curvature form A^{κ} is of type (1,1), is a solution to the *Hull-Strominger system* [22, 42]:

$$\omega^{2} \wedge A^{\kappa} = 0 , \quad (A^{\kappa})^{2,0} = (A^{\kappa})^{0,2} = 0 ,$$

$$i \, \partial \overline{\partial} \omega = \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{Tr}(Rm^{\tau} \wedge Rm^{\tau}) - \operatorname{Tr}(A^{\kappa} \wedge A^{\kappa}) \right) ,$$

$$d(\|\Psi\|_{\omega} \omega^{2}) = 0 .$$
(2)

Here, the first two equations represent the *Hermitian-Yang-Mills equation* for the connection ∇^{κ} ; the third equation follows by the Green-Schwarz cancellation mechanism in string theory and it is known as *anomaly cancellation*; while, the last equation was originally formulated as

$$d^*\omega = i(\bar{\partial} - \partial) \ln \|\Psi\|_{\omega},$$

where d^* is the co-differential, and the above equivalent expression is due to Li and Yau [27].

We mention that the Hull-Strominger system arises from the supersymmetric compactification of the 10-dimensional heterotic string theory and it has been extensively studied both from physicists and mathematicians (see e.g. [1, 2, 6, 8, 12, 14, 18, 19, 20, 28, 38, 44]).

The Anomaly flow turned out to be a powerful tool in the study of the Hull-Strominger system. In particular, it was used to give an alternative proof of the outstanding results obtained by Fu and Yau in [18, 19] about the existence of solutions to (2). More precisely, in [32] Phong, Picard and Zhang studied the flow on a torus fibration over a K3 surface, showing that if ω_0 is conformally balanced and satisfies some extra assumptions, then the flow has a long-time solution which always converges to a solution of the Hull-Strominger system, once the connections ∇^{τ} and ∇^{κ} are both Chern.

In a attempt to better understand the 'general' behaviour of the Anomaly flow, a simplified version of the flow with 'flat' bundle was proposed in [31], namely

$$\partial_t(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}\,\omega_t^2) = i\partial\overline{\partial}\omega_t - \frac{\alpha'}{4}\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau}\wedge Rm_t^{\tau}). \tag{3}$$

Then, following the approach proposed by Fei and Yau in [11] to solve the Hull-Strominger system on complex unimodular Lie groups, Phong, Picard and Zhang investigated this new flow on such Lie groups [34].

In the present paper we study the behaviour of the Anomaly flows (1) and (3) on a class of nilmanifolds. We will assume the trace $\text{Tr}(A_t^{\kappa} \wedge A_t^{\kappa})$ to be of a special type (see Assumption 3.1) and all the involved structures are to be intended *invariant*.

Our first result characterizes the solutions to the Anomaly flows under our hypotheses.

Theorem A. Let $M = \Gamma \setminus G$ be a 2-step nilmanifold of dimension 6 with first Betti number $b_1 \geq 4$. Let J be a non-parallelizable complex structure on M. Then, there always exists a preferable (1,0)coframe $\{\zeta^i\}$ on X = (M,J) such that the family of Hermitian metrics ω_t solving (1) or (3) is
given by

$$\omega_t = \frac{i}{2} r(t)^2 \left(\zeta^{1\bar{1}} + a \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + b \zeta^{1\bar{2}} + \bar{b} \zeta^{2\bar{1}} \right) + \frac{i}{2} c \zeta^{3\bar{3}},$$

for some $a, c \in \mathbb{R}$ and $b \in \mathbb{C}$ depending on ω_0 . Furthermore, if ω_t is a solution to the Anomaly flow (3), then $r(t)^2$ solves the ODE

$$\frac{d}{dt}r(t)^2 = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{r(t)^4}\,, (4)$$

with $K_1, K_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ constants depending on $K_1 = K_1(\omega_0)$ and $K_2 = K_2(\omega_0, \alpha', \tau)$.

As a direct consequence, we have that the qualitative behaviour of the Anomaly flow (3) only depends on signs of the constants K_1 and K_2 . Remarkably, this implies that the Anomaly flow (3) admits both immortal and ancient invariant solutions on the same nilmanifolds, and, as far as we know, this provides the second example of a metric flow with such a property (the first one is the pluriclosed flow [3]). We also show that the constant K_1 is closely related to a conformal invariant of the metric ω_0 introduced and studied in [17].

Our second result is about the convergence of the Anomaly flow (3) in Gromov-Hausdorff topology. In particular, under the same assumption of Theorem A, we have

Theorem B. Let ω_t be an immortal solution to the Anomaly flow (3). Then, $(X, (1+t)^{-1}\omega_t)$ converges either to a point or to a real torus \mathbb{T}^4 in the Gromov-Hausdorff topology as $t \to +\infty$, depending on the initial metric ω_0 and the signs of K_1 and K_2 in (4).

It is worth noting that, Theorem A holds for any initial invariant Hermitian metric ω_0 on X. Nonetheless, in view of the Hull-Strominger system, it would be desirable for the Anomaly flows to preserve the locally conformally balanced condition. Under the assumptions of Theorem A, our third result states as follows

Theorem C. The Anomaly flows (1) and (3) preserve the balanced condition.

The last part of this paper is devoted to the study of the Anomaly flow (1) in some interesting non-flat cases. In particular, we consider a class of Lie groups G arising from Theorem A, and we equip them with holomorphic tangent bundles, that is $E = T^{1,0}G$.

Theorem D. If the initial metrics (ω_0, H_0) are both diagonal, then ω_t and H_t hold diagonal along the Anomaly flow (1).

As a relevant application of this theorem, we obtain solutions to the field equations of the heterotic string on the nilmanifold corresponding to the nilpotent Lie group N_3 . In [23] Ivanov proved that, in order to solve such field equations, the solution to the Hull-Strominger system (2) must satisfy the extra condition that Rm is the curvature of an SU(3)-instanton with respect to ω (see also [13]). In our setting, this means that the curvature of the Gauduchon connection ∇^{τ} has to satisfy

$$\omega^2 \wedge Rm^{\tau} = 0$$
, $(Rm^{\tau})^{2,0} = (Rm^{\tau})^{0,2} = 0$. (5)

Following [33], we will refer to the whole system given by (2) and (5) as the *Hull-Strominger-Ivanov* system. Explicit solutions to this system were found in [13] on nilmanifolds, and more recently in [28] on solvmanifolds and on the quotient of $SL(2,\mathbb{C})$.

As an application of Theorem D, given the nilpotent Lie group N_3 , we prove that if ∇_t^{κ} is the Strominger-Bismut connection of H_t and the initial metric ω_0 is balanced, then the flow reduces to an ODE of the form of (4). This allows us to prove that the Anomaly flow (1) always converges to a solution of the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system when ∇_t^{τ} is the Strominger-Bismut connection of the metric ω_t (see Theorem 5.8).

It is worth noting that a generalization of the Anomaly flow to Hermitian manifolds of any dimension has been proposed in [35]; while, in [9] Fei and Phong proved that this generalized Anomaly flow is related to a flow in the Hermitian curvature flows family, that is, a family of parabolic flows introduced by Streets and Tian in [41]. We mention that the Hermitian curvature flow related to the Anomaly flow has been studied on 2-step nilpotent complex Lie groups by the first named author in [37], who proved long-time existence and convergence results. We also refer to [3, 5, 25, 29, 36, 39, 46] for some recent results on Hermitian curvature flows in different homogeneous settings.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 is devoted to basic computations on our class of nilpotent Lie groups. In particular, we show that under our assumptions we can always find a preferable real coframe on such Lie groups, namely an adapted basis. Then, by using this basis, we explicitly compute $\text{Tr}(Rm^{\tau} \wedge Rm^{\tau})$. In Section 3 we begin the study of the Anomaly flows and we prove Theorem A and Theorem C. In Section 4 we focus on the Anomaly flow (3), showing that we can always reduce the flow to the ODE (4). We also study the qualitative behaviour of the Anomaly flow (3) depending on the signs of K_1 , K_2 . These results will in turn imply Theorem B. In Section 5 we study the Anomaly flow (1) on a special class of nilpotent Lie groups and we prove Theorem D. We also investigate the behaviour of the flow on an explicit example. Finally, Appendix A and Appendix B contain some technical computations which we used in the paper.

Acknowledgement. The authors would like to thank the anonymous referees for several useful suggestions, which improved the presentation of the paper.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we consider a nilpotent Lie group G of (real) dimension 6 endowed with a left-invariant Hermitian structure (J, ω) . In particular, we will find a coframe which adapts to the Hermitian structure, allowing us to explicitly compute the trace of the curvature for any Hermitian connection in the Gauduchon family.

Let us recall that, given a smooth manifold M equipped with a Hermitian structure (J, ω) , a connection ∇ on the tangent bundle TM is said to be a Hermitian connection if $\nabla J = 0$ and

 $\nabla \omega = 0$. Gauduchon introduced in [21] a 1-parameter family $\{\nabla^{\tau}\}_{{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}}$ of canonical Hermitian connections, which can be defined via

$$\omega(J(\nabla_X^{\tau}Y), Z) = \omega(J(\nabla_X^{LC}Y), Z) + \frac{1-\tau}{4}T(X, Y, Z) + \frac{1+\tau}{4}C(X, Y, Z), \tag{6}$$

where ∇^{LC} is the Levi-Civita connection of the Riemannian manifold (M,ω) , and T and C are given by

$$T(\cdot,\cdot,\cdot) := -d\omega(J\cdot,J\cdot,J\cdot)$$
 and $C(\cdot,\cdot,\cdot) := d\omega(J\cdot,\cdot,\cdot)$.

These connections are distinguished by the properties of their torsion tensors and, in view of (6), the Chern connection ∇^c and the Strominger-Bismut connection ∇^+ can be recovered by taking $\tau = 1$ and $\tau = -1$, respectively.

2.1. Adapted bases.

Let G be a 6-dimensional Lie group equipped with a left-invariant complex structure J and a left-invariant Hermitian metric ω . Let $\{Z_1, Z_2, Z_3\}$ be a left-invariant (1,0)-frame of (G, J), and $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ its dual frame. Then, we can always write

$$2\omega = i(r^2\zeta^{1\bar{1}} + s^2\zeta^{2\bar{2}} + k^2\zeta^{3\bar{3}}) + u\zeta^{1\bar{2}} - \bar{u}\zeta^{2\bar{1}} + v\zeta^{2\bar{3}} - \bar{v}\zeta^{3\bar{2}} + z\zeta^{1\bar{3}} - \bar{z}\zeta^{3\bar{1}},$$
 (7)

where $r, s, k \in \mathbb{R}^*$ and $u, v, z \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfy

$$r^2s^2 > |u|^2, \quad s^2k^2 > |v|^2, \quad r^2k^2 > |z|^2,$$
 (8)

and

$$8i \det \omega = r^2 s^2 k^2 + 2 \Re \left(i \bar{u} \bar{v} z \right) - k^2 |u|^2 - r^2 |v|^2 - s^2 |z|^2 > 0$$
(9)

by the positive definiteness of the metric. Here

$$\det \omega = \frac{1}{8} \det \begin{pmatrix} i r^2 & u & z \\ -\overline{u} & i s^2 & v \\ -\overline{z} & -\overline{v} & i k^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In the following, we focus on Lie groups G which are 2-step nilpotent and such that (G, J) is not a complex Lie group, that is, the left-invariant complex structure J is not complex parallelizable. Notice that, the latter condition excludes just two cases (the complex torus and the Iwasawa manifold), both of which have already been studied in [34] (see also [37]). Additionally, we will suppose that the dimension of the first Chevalley-Eilenberg cohomology group $H^1(\mathfrak{g})$ of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G is at least 4. We denote such dimension by $b_1(\mathfrak{g})$, since by the Nomizu theorem it coincides with the first Betti number of the nilmanifold $\Gamma \setminus G$ obtained as the quotient of G by a co-compact lattice Γ .

Under these assumptions we are able to study a large family of Hermitian metrics in a unified setting. Indeed, by means of [43, Proposition 2] (see also [4, Proposition 2.4]), if J is not complex parallelizable and $b_1(\mathfrak{g}) = \dim H^1(\mathfrak{g}) \geq 4$, then there exists a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ on (G, J) satisfying

$$\begin{cases} d\zeta^{1} = d\zeta^{2} = 0, \\ d\zeta^{3} = \rho \, \zeta^{12} + \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \lambda \, \zeta^{1\bar{2}} + (x + i \, y) \, \zeta^{2\bar{2}}, \end{cases}$$
(10)

where $x, y, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\lambda \geq 0$, and $\rho \in \{0, 1\}$. (See Table 1 in Section 4.2 for a description of all the real Lie groups supporting such Hermitian structures.)

Our first result shows that we can always find a preferable (real) left-invariant coframe $\{e^1, \ldots, e^6\}$ on G associated to any left-invariant Hermitian structure (J, ω) . In the following, we refer to such a coframe as *adapted basis*.

Proposition 2.1. Let G be a 2-step nilpotent Lie group of dimension 6 with $b_1(\mathfrak{g}) \geq 4$, \mathfrak{g} being the Lie algebra of G. Let J be a left-invariant non-parallelizable complex structure on G and ω a left-invariant J-Hermitian metric. Suppose that J and ω are defined by (10) and (7), respectively. Then, there exists a (real) left-invariant coframe $\{e^1, \ldots, e^6\}$ on G, such that:

(a) The complex structure J and the metric ω satisfy

$$Je^1 = -e^2, \ Je^3 = -e^4, \ Je^5 = -e^6, \qquad \omega = e^{12} + e^{34} + e^{56}.$$
 (11)

(b) The coframe satisfies the following structure equations

$$\begin{cases}
de^{1} = de^{2} = de^{3} = de^{4} = 0, \\
de^{5} = \frac{k_{e}}{\Delta_{e}} (\rho + \lambda) e^{13} - \frac{k_{e}}{\Delta_{e}} (\rho - \lambda) e^{24} + \frac{2k_{e}}{\Delta_{e}^{2}} (r_{e}^{2} y - \lambda u_{e1}) e^{34}, \\
de^{6} = -\frac{2k_{e}}{r_{e}^{2}} e^{12} + \frac{2k_{e}u_{e1}}{r_{e}^{2}\Delta_{e}} e^{13} + \frac{k_{e}}{r_{e}^{2}\Delta_{e}} (r_{e}^{2} (\rho - \lambda) + 2u_{e2}) e^{14} \\
+ \frac{k_{e}}{r_{e}^{2}\Delta_{e}} (r_{e}^{2} (\rho + \lambda) - 2u_{e2}) e^{23} + \frac{2k_{e}u_{e1}}{r_{e}^{2}\Delta_{e}} e^{24}, \\
- \frac{2k_{e}}{r_{e}^{2}\Delta_{e}^{2}} (r_{e}^{4} x - \lambda r_{e}^{2} u_{e2} + u_{e1}^{2} + u_{e2}^{2}) e^{34}.
\end{cases} (12)$$

Here, $x, y, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\lambda \geq 0$, and $\rho \in \{0, 1\}$ are the coefficients in (10) which define the complex structure J, whereas the coefficients $r_e, s_e, k_e, u_{e1}, u_{e2} \in \mathbb{R}$, which depends on the coefficients of ω , are given by

$$r_e^2 = r^2 - \frac{|z|^2}{k^2}, \quad s_e^2 = s^2 - \frac{|v|^2}{k^2}, \quad k_e^2 = k^2, \quad u_{e1} + i u_{e2} := u_e = u - \frac{i\bar{v}z}{k^2}.$$
 (13)

The term Δ_e in the equations (12) stands for $\Delta_e := \sqrt{r_e^2 s_e^2 - |u_e|^2} = \sqrt{\frac{8i \det \omega}{k^2}}$

(c) The 4-form e^{1234} is a positive multiple of the (2,2)-form $\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}$, concretely

$$e^{1234} = \frac{2i \det \omega}{k^2} \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}.$$
 (14)

Proof. Starting from a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ satisfying (10) and a generic *J*-Hermitian metric ω in the form of (7), we first consider the left-invariant (1,0)-coframe

$$\sigma^1 := \zeta^1, \quad \sigma^2 := \zeta^2, \quad \sigma^3 := \zeta^3 - \frac{iv}{k^2} \zeta^2 - \frac{iz}{k^2} \zeta^1.$$
 (15)

This map defines an automorphism of the complex structure J which preserves the complex structure equations (10), i.e. the (1,0)-coframe $\{\sigma^1, \sigma^2, \sigma^3\}$ still satisfies

$$d\sigma^{1} = d\sigma^{2} = 0, \qquad d\sigma^{3} = \rho \,\sigma^{12} + \sigma^{1\bar{1}} + \lambda \,\sigma^{1\bar{2}} + (x+iy)\,\sigma^{2\bar{2}}. \tag{16}$$

With respect to this coframe, the Hermitian metric ω can be written as

$$2\omega = i\left(r_{\sigma}^{2}\sigma^{1\bar{1}} + s_{\sigma}^{2}\sigma^{2\bar{2}} + k_{\sigma}^{2}\sigma^{3\bar{3}}\right) + u_{\sigma}\sigma^{1\bar{2}} - \overline{u}_{\sigma}\sigma^{2\bar{1}},\tag{17}$$

where the metric coefficients are given by

$$r_{\sigma}^{2} = r^{2} - \frac{|z|^{2}}{k^{2}}, \quad s_{\sigma}^{2} = s^{2} - \frac{|v|^{2}}{k^{2}}, \quad k_{\sigma}^{2} = k^{2}, \quad u_{\sigma} = u - \frac{i\bar{v}z}{k^{2}}.$$
 (18)

Notice that from (8) we have $r_{\sigma}^2, s_{\sigma}^2, k_{\sigma}^2 > 0$ and $r_{\sigma}^2 s_{\sigma}^2 > |u_{\sigma}|^2$.

Let us now consider the left-invariant (1,0)-coframe

$$\tau^{1} := r_{\sigma} \sigma^{1} + \frac{i \overline{u}_{\sigma}}{r_{\sigma}} \sigma^{2}, \quad \tau^{2} := \frac{\Delta_{\sigma}}{r_{\sigma}} \sigma^{2}, \quad \tau^{3} := k_{\sigma} \sigma^{3}, \tag{19}$$

where $\Delta_{\sigma} := \sqrt{r_{\sigma}^2 s_{\sigma}^2 - |u_{\sigma}|^2}$. Then, a direct calculation yields that ω can be written as

$$\omega = \frac{i}{2} \tau^{1\bar{1}} + \frac{i}{2} \tau^{2\bar{2}} + \frac{i}{2} \tau^{3\bar{3}}$$

and, by using (16), the complex structure equations become

$$\begin{cases}
d\tau^{1} = d\tau^{2} = 0, \\
d\tau^{3} = \rho \frac{k_{\sigma}}{\Delta_{\sigma}} \tau^{12} + \frac{k_{\sigma}}{r_{\sigma}^{2}} \tau^{1\bar{1}} + \frac{k_{\sigma}}{r_{\sigma}^{2} \Delta_{\sigma}} \left(iu_{\sigma} + \lambda r_{\sigma}^{2} \right) \tau^{1\bar{2}} - \frac{ik_{\sigma}\overline{u}_{\sigma}}{r_{\sigma}^{2} \Delta_{\sigma}} \tau^{2\bar{1}} \\
+ \frac{k_{\sigma}}{r_{\sigma}^{2} \Delta_{\sigma}^{2}} \left(|u_{\sigma}|^{2} - ir_{\sigma}^{2}\overline{u}_{\sigma}\lambda + r_{\sigma}^{4}x + ir_{\sigma}^{4}y \right) \tau^{2\bar{2}}.
\end{cases} (20)$$

Finally, let us consider the real left-invariant coframe $\{e^1, \ldots, e^6\}$ on G given by

$$e^{1} + i e^{2} := \tau^{1}, \quad e^{3} + i e^{4} := \tau^{2}, \quad e^{5} + i e^{6} := \tau^{3}.$$
 (21)

Then, with respect to this real coframe, (11) holds and hence (a) is proved.

Now, let us set $u_{\sigma 1} + i u_{\sigma 2} := u_{\sigma}$. By means of (20), a direct computation yields that the structure equations in terms of the real coframe $\{e^1, \ldots, e^6\}$ are given by

$$\begin{cases} de^{1} = de^{2} = de^{3} = de^{4} = 0, \\ \frac{\Delta_{\sigma}}{k_{\sigma}} de^{5} = (\rho + \lambda) e^{13} - (\rho - \lambda) e^{24} + \frac{2}{\Delta_{\sigma}} (r_{\sigma}^{2} y - \lambda u_{\sigma 1}) e^{34}, \\ \frac{r_{\sigma}^{2} \Delta_{\sigma}}{k_{\sigma}} de^{6} = -2\Delta_{\sigma} e^{12} + 2u_{\sigma 1} e^{13} + (r_{\sigma}^{2} (\rho - \lambda) + 2u_{\sigma 2}) e^{14} + (r_{\sigma}^{2} (\rho + \lambda) - 2u_{\sigma 2}) e^{23} \\ +2u_{\sigma 1} e^{24} - \frac{2}{\Delta_{\sigma}} (r_{\sigma}^{4} x - \lambda r_{\sigma}^{2} u_{\sigma 2} + u_{\sigma 1}^{2} + u_{\sigma 2}^{2}) e^{34}. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, setting $r_e := r_{\sigma}$, $s_e := s_{\sigma}$, $k_e := k_{\sigma}$, $u_e := u_{\sigma}$ (thus, $u_{e1} := u_{\sigma 1}$ and $u_{e2} := u_{\sigma 2}$) and $\Delta_e = \Delta_{\sigma}$, we get (12) and (b) follows. Notice that (13) is precisely (18) in the new notation. Moreover, from (13) we get

$$\Delta_e^2 = r_e^2 s_e^2 - |u_e|^2 = \frac{1}{k^2} \left(r^2 s^2 k^2 + 2 \, \Re \mathfrak{e} \left(i \bar{u} \bar{v} z \right) - k^2 |u|^2 - r^2 |v|^2 - s^2 |z|^2 \right) = \frac{8i \, \det \omega}{k^2},$$

due to (9).

Finally, in order to prove (c), it is enough to note that
$$4e^{1234} = \tau^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}} = \Delta_e^2 \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}$$
.

Remark 2.2. In the balanced case, adapted bases were found in [45, Theorem 2.11] by considering a partition of the space of metrics into the subsets "u = 0" and " $u \neq 0$ " for a given left-invariant metric (7). However, the study of the Anomaly flow requires to consider a global setting involving the whole space of left-invariant Hermitian metrics ω on (G, J), as it has been obtained in our Proposition 2.1.

2.2. Trace of the curvature.

In the following, we explicitly compute the trace of the curvature of a Hermitian connection in the Gauduchon family $\{\nabla^{\tau}\}_{{\tau}\in\mathbb{R}}$ for our class of nilpotent Lie groups. We will adopt the convention used in [13] (see also [28]).

Let us consider a 6-dimensional Lie group G equipped with a left-invariant Hermitian structure (J,ω) . Let also $\{e^1,\ldots,e^6\}$ be an adapted basis to the Hermitian structure on G, i.e. J and ω are expressed by (11). The connection 1-forms σ^i_j associated to any linear connection ∇ are

$$\sigma_i^i(e_k) := \omega(J(\nabla_{e_k}e_i), e_i),$$

that is, $\nabla_X e_j = \sigma_j^1(X) e_1 + \cdots + \sigma_j^6(X) e_6$; while, the *curvature 2-forms* Rm_j^i of ∇ are given by

$$Rm_j^i := d\sigma_j^i + \sum_{1 \le k \le 6} \sigma_k^i \wedge \sigma_j^k. \tag{22}$$

Then, the trace of the 4-form $Rm \wedge Rm$ can be defined via

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Rm \wedge Rm) = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 6} Rm_j^i \wedge Rm_j^i. \tag{23}$$

Remarkably, the connection 1-forms $(\sigma^{\tau})_{j}^{i}$ associated to a canonical connection ∇^{τ} in the Gauduchon family can be explicitly obtained as follows. Let us denote by c_{ij}^{k} the structure constants of G with respect to $\{e^{1}, \ldots, e^{6}\}$, i.e.

$$d e^k = \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le 6} c_{ij}^k e^{ij}, \qquad k = 1, \dots, 6.$$

Since $de^k(e_i, e_j) = -e^k([e_i, e_j])$, the connection 1-forms $(\sigma^{LC})^i_j$ of the Levi-Civita connection satisfy

$$(\sigma^{LC})_{j}^{i}(e_{k}) = -\frac{1}{2}\left(\omega(Je_{i}, [e_{j}, e_{k}]) - \omega(Je_{k}, [e_{i}, e_{j}]) + \omega(Je_{j}, [e_{k}, e_{i}])\right) = \frac{1}{2}(c_{jk}^{i} - c_{ij}^{k} + c_{ki}^{j}),$$

and hence, by means of (6), the connection 1-forms $(\sigma^{\tau})_{i}^{i}$ of ∇^{τ} are given by

$$\begin{split} (\sigma^{\tau})_{j}^{i}(e_{k}) = & (\sigma^{LC})_{j}^{i}(e_{k}) + \frac{1-\tau}{4} T(e_{k}, e_{j}, e_{i}) + \frac{1+\tau}{4} C(e_{k}, e_{j}, e_{i}) \\ = & \frac{1}{2} (c_{jk}^{i} - c_{ij}^{k} + c_{ki}^{j}) + \frac{1-\tau}{4} T(e_{k}, e_{j}, e_{i}) + \frac{1+\tau}{4} C(e_{k}, e_{j}, e_{i}) \\ = & \frac{1}{2} (c_{jk}^{i} - c_{ij}^{k} + c_{ki}^{j}) - \frac{1-\tau}{4} d\omega(Je_{k}, Je_{j}, Je_{i}) + \frac{1+\tau}{4} d\omega(Je_{k}, e_{j}, e_{i}). \end{split}$$

We are now in a position to compute the trace of $Rm^{\tau} \wedge Rm^{\tau}$ for our class of nilpotent Lie groups. In our next proposition, we show that the trace is of a special type. This will allow us to substantially simplify the Anomaly flow equations.

Proposition 2.3. Let G be a 2-step nilpotent Lie group of dimension 6 with $b_1(\mathfrak{g}) \geq 4$, \mathfrak{g} being the Lie algebra of G. Let J be a left-invariant non-parallelizable complex structure on G and ω a left-invariant J-Hermitian metric. Suppose that J and ω are defined, respectively, by (10) and (7) in terms of a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^l\}_{l=1}^3$. Then, for any Gauduchon connection ∇^{τ} , the trace of its curvature satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Rm^{\tau} \wedge Rm^{\tau}) = C \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}},$$

where $C = C(\rho, \lambda, x, y; r, s, k, u, v, z; \tau)$ is a constant depending both on the Hermitian structure and the connection. More precisely, we have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Tr}(Rm^{\tau} \wedge Rm^{\tau}) &= -\frac{(\tau - 1) k_{e}^{4}}{2(r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2} - |u_{e}|^{2})^{2}} \left\{ \\ & \left[(\rho - \lambda^{2} + 5x)(s_{e}^{4} - 2\lambda s_{e}^{2}u_{e2} + 2x|u_{e}|^{2}) - 3\lambda^{2}x(u_{e1}^{2} - u_{e2}^{2}) - 6\lambda u_{e1}y(s_{e}^{2} - \lambda u_{e2}) + 6y^{2}|u_{e}|^{2} \right. \\ & \left. + \tau(\rho + \lambda^{2} - 2x)(s_{e}^{4} - 2\lambda s_{e}^{2}u_{e2} + 2x|u_{e}|^{2}) \right. \\ & \left. + \tau^{2} \left((-2\rho + x)(s_{e}^{4} - 2\lambda s_{e}^{2}u_{e2} + 2x|u_{e}|^{2}) - \lambda^{2}x(u_{e1}^{2} - u_{e2}^{2}) - 2\lambda u_{e1}y(s_{e}^{2} - \lambda u_{e2}) + 2y^{2}|u_{e}|^{2} \right) \right] \\ & \left. + r_{e}^{2}\lambda \left[(\rho - \lambda^{2} + 2x)(\lambda s_{e}^{2} - 2u_{e2}x - 2u_{e1}y) - 6u_{e2}(x^{2} + y^{2}) \right. \\ & \left. + \tau(\rho + \lambda^{2} - 2x)(\lambda s_{e}^{2} - 2u_{e2}x - 2u_{e1}y) - 2u_{e2}(x^{2} + y^{2}) \right] \right] \\ & \left. + \tau^{2}\left(-2\rho(\lambda s_{e}^{2} - 2u_{e2}x - 2u_{e1}y) - 2u_{e2}(x^{2} + y^{2}) \right) \right] \\ & \left. + r_{e}^{4}(x^{2} + y^{2}) \left[(\rho - \lambda^{2} + 5x) + \tau(\rho + \lambda^{2} - 2x) + \tau^{2}(-2\rho + x) \right] \right\} \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}, \end{split}$$

where r_e, s_e, k_e and $u_e = u_{e1} + i u_{e2}$ are given in Proposition 2.1.

Proof. By means of Proposition 2.1, there always exists an adapted basis $\{e^1,\ldots,e^6\}$ on the Lie group G for the left-invariant Hermitian structure (J,ω) . Therefore, let $(\sigma^{\tau})^i_j$ be the connection 1-forms of the Gauduchon connection ∇^{τ} in this basis. Since ∇^{τ} is Hermitian, then the forms $(\sigma^{\tau})^i_j$ satisfy the condition $(\sigma^{\tau})^i_j = -(\sigma^{\tau})^j_i$. Moreover, a direct computation yields the following connection 1-forms:

$$\begin{split} &(\sigma^{\tau})_{1}^{1}=-\frac{k_{c}}{r_{e}^{2}}(\tau-1)\,e^{6}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{3}^{1}=\frac{\lambda k_{e}}{2\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau-1)\,e^{5}+\frac{k_{e}\,u_{e1}}{r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau-1)\,e^{6}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{4}^{1}=-\frac{k_{e}(\lambda\,r_{e}^{2}-2\,u_{e2})}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau-1)\,e^{6}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{5}^{1}=-\frac{k_{e}}{2r_{e}^{2}}(\tau+1)\,e^{1}+\frac{k_{e}}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}\left(\rho r_{e}^{2}(\tau-1)+(u_{e2}-\lambda r_{e}^{2})(\tau+1)\right)\,e^{3}-\frac{k_{e}\,u_{e1}}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau+1)\,e^{4}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{6}^{1}=\frac{k_{e}}{2r_{e}^{2}}(\tau+1)\,e^{2}-\frac{k_{e}\,u_{e1}}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau+1)\,e^{3}+\frac{k_{e}}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}\left(\rho r_{e}^{2}(\tau-1)-(u_{e2}-\lambda r_{e}^{2})(\tau+1)\right)\,e^{4}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{3}^{3}=-\frac{k_{e}\,(\lambda\,u_{e1}-r_{e}^{2}y)}{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}(\tau-1)\,e^{5}-\frac{k_{e}\,(|u_{e}|^{2}-\lambda\,r_{e}^{2}u_{e2}+r_{e}^{4}x)}{r_{e}^{2}(r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2})}(\tau-1)\,e^{6}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{5}^{3}=-\frac{k_{e}\,(\rho\,r_{e}^{2}(\tau-1)-u_{e2}\,(\tau+1))}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}\,e^{1}+\frac{k_{e}\,u_{e1}(\tau+1)}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}\,e^{2}-\frac{k_{e}\,(|u_{e}|^{2}-\lambda\,r_{e}^{2}u_{e2}+r_{e}^{4}x)}{2r_{e}^{2}(r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau+1)\,e^{3}\\ &+\frac{k_{e}\,(\lambda\,u_{e1}-r_{e}^{2}y)}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau+1)\,e^{4}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{6}^{3}=\frac{k_{e}\,u_{e1}(\tau+1)}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}\,e^{1}-\frac{k_{e}\,(\rho\,r_{e}^{2}(\tau-1)+u_{e2}\,(\tau+1))}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}\,e^{2}+\frac{k_{e}\,(\lambda\,u_{e1}-r_{e}^{2}y)}{2(r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2})}(\tau+1)\,e^{3}\\ &+\frac{k_{e}\,(|u_{e}|^{2}-\lambda\,r_{e}^{2}u_{e2}+r_{e}^{4}x)}{2r_{e}^{2}\sqrt{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2}-|u_{e}|^{2}}}(\tau+1)\,e^{4}\,,\\ &(\sigma^{\tau})_{6}^{3}=0\,, \end{cases}$$

together with the following relations:

$$\begin{split} &(\sigma^\tau)_3^2 = -(\sigma^\tau)_4^1\,, \quad (\sigma^\tau)_4^2 = (\sigma^\tau)_3^1\,, \quad (\sigma^\tau)_5^2 = -(\sigma^\tau)_6^1\,, \quad (\sigma^\tau)_6^2 = (\sigma^\tau)_5^1\,, \\ &(\sigma^\tau)_5^4 = -(\sigma^\tau)_6^3\,, \quad (\sigma^\tau)_6^4 = (\sigma^\tau)_5^3\,. \end{split}$$

Finally, by using the curvature 2-forms $(Rm^{\tau})_{j}^{i}$ explicitly given in Appendix A and equation (23), the result follows from a long but direct calculation.

Let G be a nilpotent Lie group endowed with a left-invariant complex structure J defined by (10). Moreover, let us consider the following left-invariant closed (3,0)-form

$$\Psi := \zeta^1 \wedge \zeta^2 \wedge \zeta^3. \tag{24}$$

Given the Chern connection ∇^c of the metric ω , i.e. $\tau = 1$ in the Gauduchon family, one always has $\nabla^c \Psi = 0$; whereas, by the proof of the previous proposition, one gets

Corollary 2.4. Under the hypotheses of Proposition 2.3. If $\tau \neq 1$, then $\nabla^{\tau} \Psi = 0$ if and only if the Hermitian metric ω is balanced.

Proof. In terms of an adapted basis $\{e^l\}_{l=1}^6$ as in Proposition 2.1, we have that

$$\nabla^{\tau}((e^1 + ie^2) \wedge (e^3 + ie^4) \wedge (e^5 + ie^6)) = 0$$

if and only if the connection 1-forms satisfy $(\sigma^{\tau})_2^1 + (\sigma^{\tau})_4^3 + (\sigma^{\tau})_6^5 = 0$. Since the left-invariant (3,0)-forms are related by $\Psi = c (e^1 + i e^2) \wedge (e^3 + i e^4) \wedge (e^5 + i e^6)$ for some non-zero constant c, we get that $\nabla^{\tau}\Psi = 0$ if and only if

$$(\sigma^{\tau})_{2}^{1} + (\sigma^{\tau})_{4}^{3} + (\sigma^{\tau})_{6}^{5} = -\frac{k_{e}(\tau - 1)}{r_{e}^{2}s_{e}^{2} - |u_{e}|^{2}} \Big((\lambda u_{e1} - r_{e}^{2}y) e^{5} + (s_{e}^{2} - \lambda u_{e2} + r_{e}^{2}x) e^{6} \Big) = 0,$$

where we have made use of the connection 1-forms given in the proof of Proposition 2.3. Therefore, given $\tau \neq 1$, the above equality holds if and only if

$$\lambda u_{e1} - r_e^2 y = 0 = s_e^2 - \lambda u_{e2} + r_e^2 x. \tag{25}$$

On the other hand, by means of the structure equations in the adapted basis, one directly gets that the metric ω satisfies the balanced condition $d\omega^2 = 0$ if and only if

$$0 = \omega \wedge d\omega = (e^{12} + e^{34} + e^{56}) \wedge de^{56},$$

which is equivalent to (25).

3. The first Anomaly flow equation on nilpotent Lie groups

We now study the behaviour of a general solution to the first equation in the Anomaly flow for our class of nilpotent Lie groups, under certain assumptions. In particular, since we focus on invariant solutions, the first statement in Theorem A and Theorem C will follow, respectively, by Theorem 3.7 and Theorem 3.4 below.

Let G be a 6-dimensional 2-step nilpotent Lie group with $b_1 \geq 4$, endowed with a left-invariant non-parallelizable complex structure J. Let $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ be a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe on (G,J) satisfying (10) and let

$$\Psi := \zeta^1 \wedge \zeta^2 \wedge \zeta^3$$

be the left-invariant closed (3,0)-form defined in (24).

Assumption 3.1. Let (ω_t, H_t) be the couple of left-invariant Hermitian metrics solving the Anomaly flow (1) and let $\text{Tr}(A_t \wedge A_t)$ be a multiple of the (2,2)-form $\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}$.

Remark 3.2. Since we are considering left-invariant metrics, the evolution equation of ω_t reduces to an ODE on the Lie algebra level. We stress that, all the stated results will also hold for the Anomaly flow (3) with flat bundle.

Let ω_t be a solution to the Anomaly flow (1) on (G, J) given by

$$\omega_{t} = \frac{i}{2} \left(r(t)^{2} \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + s(t)^{2} \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + k(t)^{2} \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right) + \frac{1}{2} u(t) \zeta^{1\bar{2}} - \frac{1}{2} \overline{u(t)} \zeta^{2\bar{1}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} v(t) \zeta^{2\bar{3}} - \frac{1}{2} \overline{v(t)} \zeta^{3\bar{2}} + \frac{1}{2} z(t) \zeta^{1\bar{3}} - \frac{1}{2} \overline{z(t)} \zeta^{3\bar{1}} ,$$
(26)

where r(t), s(t), k(t) are positive real functions and u(t), v(t), z(t) are complex functions. Then, we have

Proposition 3.3. Let Assumption 3.1 hold. Then, for every Gauduchon connection ∇_t^{τ} on (G, ω_t) , the evolution equation of ω_t in the Anomaly flow reduces to the ODE

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}\,\omega_t^2\right) = K(t,\alpha',\tau)\,\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}\,,\tag{27}$$

with $K(t, \alpha', \tau)$ depending on the structure equations (10) of (G, J) and on the curvature A_t of the connection on (E, H_t) .

Proof. By means of (10) and (26), a direct computation yields that

$$2i\partial\bar{\partial}\omega_t = -k(t)^2(\bar{\partial}\zeta^3 \wedge \partial\zeta^{\bar{3}} - \partial\zeta^3 \wedge \bar{\partial}\zeta^{\bar{3}}) = k(t)^2(\rho + \lambda^2 - 2x)\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}.$$
 (28)

On the other hand, by means of Proposition 2.3, the trace of the curvature of a Gauduchon connection ∇^{τ} on (G, ω_t) satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau} \wedge Rm_t^{\tau}) = C(t) \, \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}} \, .$$

Therefore, by the assumption on the curvature A_t , we have

$$\partial_t(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}\,\omega_t^2) = i\partial\overline{\partial}\omega_t - \frac{\alpha'}{4}\left(\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau}\wedge Rm_t^{\tau}) - \operatorname{Tr}(A_t\wedge A_t)\right) = K(t,\alpha',\tau)\,\zeta^{12\overline{1}\overline{2}}\,,$$

where $K(t, \alpha', \tau)$ also depends on (G, J) and A_t .

Let us now analyze equation (27) in more detail. A direct computation yields that

$$\begin{split} 2\,\omega_t \wedge \omega_t &= \left(r(t)^2 s(t)^2 - |u(t)|^2\right) \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}} + \left(r(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |z(t)|^2\right) \zeta^{13\bar{1}\bar{3}} + \left(s(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |v(t)|^2\right) \zeta^{23\bar{2}\bar{3}} \\ &- i \left(r(t)^2 v(t) - i \, z(t) \overline{u(t)}\right) \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{3}} + i \left(r(t)^2 \overline{v(t)} + i \, u(t) \overline{z(t)}\right) \zeta^{13\bar{1}\bar{2}} \\ &+ i \left(s(t)^2 z(t) + i \, u(t) v(t)\right) \zeta^{12\bar{2}\bar{3}} - i \left(s(t)^2 \overline{z(t)} - i \, \overline{u(t) v(t)}\right) \zeta^{23\bar{1}\bar{2}} \\ &- i \left(k(t)^2 u(t) - i \, z(t) \overline{v(t)}\right) \zeta^{13\bar{2}\bar{3}} + i \left(k(t)^2 \overline{u(t)} + i \, v(t) \overline{z(t)}\right) \zeta^{23\bar{1}\bar{3}} \,. \end{split}$$

Therefore, by substituting in (27), one gets that the following relations hold along the flow:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t} (r(t)^2 s(t)^2 - |u(t)|^2) \right) = 2 K(t, \alpha', \tau), \tag{29}$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t} (r(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |z(t)|^2) \right) = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad r(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |z(t)|^2 = \frac{c_1}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}}, \tag{30}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t} (s(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |v(t)|^2) \right) = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad s(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |v(t)|^2 = \frac{c_2}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}}, \tag{31}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}(r(t)^2v(t)-i\,z(t)\overline{u(t)})\right) = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad r(t)^2v(t)-i\,z(t)\overline{u(t)} = \frac{c_3}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}},\tag{32}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t} (s(t)^2 z(t) + i \, u(t) v(t)) \right) = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad s(t)^2 z(t) + i \, u(t) v(t) = \frac{c_4}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}}, \tag{33}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}(k(t)^2u(t) - i\,z(t)\overline{v(t)})\right) = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad k(t)^2u(t) - i\,z(t)\overline{v(t)} = \frac{c_5}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}},\tag{34}$$

for some constants $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ with $c_1, c_2 > 0$, and $c_3, c_4, c_5 \in \mathbb{C}$, which are determined by the initial metric ω_0 .

3.1. Special Hermitian metrics along the flow.

In [30] Phong, Picard and Zhang proved that the Anomaly flow preserves the conformally balanced condition, once the connections ∇^{τ} and ∇^{κ} are both Chern. In the following, we extend such a result to any connection in the Gauduchon family for our class of nilpotent Lie groups. Moreover, we also show that the locally conformally Kähler condition is preserved along the flow.

A Hermitian metric ω is said to be *locally conformally Kähler* if it is conformal to some local Kähler metric in a neighborhood of each point. Recall that, this condition is also characterized by the existence of a closed 1-form θ , the *Lee form*, satisfying $d\omega = \theta \wedge \omega$.

Theorem 3.4. Under Assumption 3.1, we have:

- (i) If ω_0 is balanced, then ω_t remains balanced along the Anomaly flow.
- (ii) If ω_0 is locally conformally Kähler, then ω_t remains locally conformally Kähler along the Anomaly flow.

Remark 3.5. By [15, Theorem 1.2], the pluriclosed condition $\partial \bar{\partial} \omega = 0$ for a left-invariant metric ω on (G, J) only depends on the complex structure J (see also [43]). Therefore, if the initial metric ω_0 is pluriclosed, the solution ω_t to the Anomaly flow holds pluriclosed.

Proof of Theorem 3.4. In view of [43, Proposition 25], the left-invariant Hermitian metric ω_t is balanced if and only if

$$s(t)^{2}k(t)^{2} - |v(t)|^{2} + (x+iy)\left(r(t)^{2}k(t)^{2} - |z(t)|^{2}\right) = i\lambda\left(k(t)^{2}\overline{u(t)} + iv(t)\overline{z(t)}\right). \tag{35}$$

On the other hand, by means of (30) and (31), the left-hand side of (35) reduces to

$$s(t)^{2}k(t)^{2} - |v(t)|^{2} + (x+iy)\left(r(t)^{2}k(t)^{2} - |z(t)|^{2}\right) = \frac{c_{1}(x+iy) + c_{2}}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_{t}}},$$

while, by means of (34), the right-hand side of (35) is equal to

$$i \lambda \left(k(t)^2 \overline{u(t)} + i v(t) \overline{z(t)} \right) = \frac{i \lambda \overline{c}_5}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}}.$$

Thus, ω_t is a balanced metric if and only if $c_1(x+iy)+c_2=i\lambda \bar{c}_5$. Since the constants c_1, c_2 and c_5 only depend on the initial metric ω_0 , it follows that ω_t satisfies the balanced condition if and only if ω_0 does.

Let us now prove (ii). By means of [43, Proposition 32], if ω_0 is locally conformally Kähler, we must have

$$\rho = \lambda = y = 0$$
 and $x = 1$

in the complex structure equations (10). Moreover, ω_t is locally conformally Kähler if and only if

$$r(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |z(t)|^2 = s(t)^2 k(t)^2 - |v(t)|^2$$
 and $k(t)^2 u(t) = i z(t) \overline{v(t)}$.

Therefore, in view of (30), (31) and (34), it follows that ω_t is a locally conformally Kähler metric if and only if $c_1 - c_2 = c_5 = 0$. Finally, since the constants c_1, c_2, c_5 only depend on the initial metric ω_0 , we get that ω_t is locally conformally Kähler if and only if ω_0 is locally conformally Kähler as well, and the claim follows.

3.2. Reduction to almost diagonal initial metrics and the general solution.

In the following, we prove that any initial Hermitian metric ω_0 can be taken to be almost diagonal. Then, we use this result to obtain the general solution ω_t to the first evolution equation in the Anomaly flow (1).

A Hermitian metric ω is said to be almost diagonal if its metric coefficients satisfy v=z=0 in (7). Our next result shows that we can always choose a preferable (1,0)-coframe on (G,J) such that the metric ω is almost diagonal.

Lemma 3.6. Let ω be a left-invariant Hermitian metric on (G, J). Then, there exists an automorphism which preserves both the complex structure equations (10) and the (3,0)-form Ψ , and such that ω reduces to an almost diagonal form.

Proof. To prove this lemma we essentially use the same argument as in Proposition 2.1. Let us consider the automorphisms induced by (15). By construction this automorphism preserves the complex structure equations (see (16)). Moreover, a direct computation yields that

$$\Psi = \zeta^1 \wedge \zeta^2 \wedge \zeta^3 = \sigma^1 \wedge \sigma^2 \wedge \sigma^3$$

and hence the holomorphic (3,0)-form Ψ is also preserved. Finally, in terms of the coframe $\{\sigma^l\}_{l=1}^3$ the Hermitian metric ω expresses as in (17) and hence the claim follows.

We are now in a position to describe the general solution to the Anomaly flow starting from an almost diagonal metric.

Theorem 3.7. Under Assumption 3.1, the Anomaly flow preserves the almost diagonal condition. More concretely, if ω_0 is almost diagonal, then ω_t evolves as

$$\omega_t = \frac{i}{2} \left(r(t)^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \frac{c_2}{c_1} r(t)^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \frac{c_1 c_2 - |c_5|^2}{8} \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right) + \frac{c_5}{2c_1} r(t)^2 \zeta^{1\bar{2}} - \frac{\bar{c}_5}{2c_1} r(t)^2 \zeta^{2\bar{1}}, \tag{36}$$

where $c_1, c_2 > 0$ and $c_5 \in \mathbb{C}$, with $c_1c_2 > |c_5|^2$, are constants determined by the initial metric ω_0 . Furthermore,

$$\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t} = \frac{8 c_1}{(c_1 c_2 - |c_5|^2) r(t)^2}.$$

Proof. Since equations (32) and (33) hold, the functions v(t) and z(t) satisfy

$$v(t) = \frac{c_3\,s(t)^2 + i\,c_4\,\overline{u(t)}}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}(r(t)^2s(t)^2 - |u(t)|^2)}\,, \qquad z(t) = \frac{-i\,c_3\,u(t) + c_4\,r(t)^2}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}(r(t)^2s(t)^2 - |u(t)|^2)}\,,$$

for any t in the defining interval. On the other hand, since we assumed ω_0 to be almost diagonal, i.e. v(0) = z(0) = 0, we get $c_3 = c_4 = 0$. Therefore, v(t) = 0 and z(t) = 0 and hence the solution ω_t holds almost diagonal.

Let us now prove the second part of the statement. As a direct consequence of (30), (31) and (34), it follows that

$$(r(t)^{2}s(t)^{2} - |u(t)|^{2})k(t)^{4} = \frac{c_{1}c_{2} - |c_{5}|^{2}}{\|\Psi\|_{\omega_{t}}^{2}},$$

which implies

$$\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}^2 = \frac{c_1 c_2 - |c_5|^2}{(r(t)^2 s(t)^2 - |u(t)|^2)k(t)^4},$$

with $c_1c_2 - |c_5|^2 > 0$ by the positive definiteness of the metric ω_0 . Moreover, by the definition of $\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}^2$, we have

$$\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t}^2 = \frac{1}{\det \omega_t} = \frac{8}{(r(t)^2 s(t)^2 - |u(t)|^2)k(t)^2}$$

and hence

$$k(t) = \sqrt{\frac{c_1 c_2 - |c_5|^2}{8}}.$$

In particular, k(t) is constant. Finally, by means of (30), (31) and (34), we have

$$0 = c_2 r(t)^2 k(t)^2 - c_1 s(t)^2 k(t)^2 = (c_2 r(t)^2 - c_1 s(t)^2) k(t)^2$$

and

$$0 = c_5 r(t)^2 k(t)^2 - c_1 u(t)k(t)^2 = (c_5 r(t)^2 - c_1 u(t))k(t)^2,$$

which respectively imply

$$s(t)^2 = \frac{c_2}{c_1} r(t)^2$$
 and $u(t) = \frac{c_5}{c_1} r(t)^2$,

and the claim follows.

When the initial metric ω_0 is diagonal (that is, u(0) = v(0) = z(0) = 0), the above result simplifies to Corollary 3.8. Under Assumption 3.1, the Anomaly flow preserves the diagonal condition. Specifically, if ω_0 is diagonal, then ω_t is given by

$$\omega_t = \frac{i}{2} \left(r(t)^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \frac{c_2}{c_1} r(t)^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \frac{c_1 c_2}{8} \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right) ,$$

where $c_1 = \frac{\sqrt{8} \, r(0) k(0)}{s(0)} > 0$ and $c_2 = \frac{\sqrt{8} \, s(0) k(0)}{r(0)} > 0$. Moreover, $\|\Psi\|_{\omega_t} = \frac{8}{c_2 \, r(t)^2}$.

Our next result describes the evolution of the trace $\text{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau} \wedge Rm_t^{\tau})$ along the Anomaly flow, under the assumption for the initial metric ω_0 to be almost diagonal.

Proposition 3.9. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 3.7, the trace of the curvature of the Gauduchon connection ∇^{τ} of (G, ω_t) satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau} \wedge Rm_t^{\tau}) = \frac{C}{r(t)^4} \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}},$$

where $C = C(\omega_0, \tau)$ is a constant depending only on the initial metric ω_0 and the connection ∇^{τ} .

Proof. The result is a consequence of Proposition 2.3. Indeed, the coefficients r_e, s_e, k_e and $u_e = u_{e1} + i u_{e2}$ appearing in Proposition 2.3 are related to the coefficients of the metric ω_t via (13). On the other hand, by means of Theorem 3.7, the metric ω_t holds almost diagonal and by (13) and (36) we get

$$r_e^2 = r(t)^2$$
, $s_e^2 = \frac{c_2}{c_1} r(t)^2$, $k_e^2 = \frac{c_1 c_2 - |c_5|^2}{8}$, $u_e = \frac{c_5}{c_1} r(t)^2$. (37)

Therefore, the claim follows by (37) and the formula of the trace given in Proposition 2.3.

4. The Anomaly flow with flat holomorphic bundle

We now focus on the Anomaly flow (3). In particular, we show that this flow always reduces to a single ODE, which we call *model problem*. As a consequence, the second part of Theorem A will directly follow by Theorem 4.1 below. Moreover, the qualitative behaviour of the model problem will be investigated.

Let G be a 6-dimensional 2-step nilpotent Lie group with $b_1 \geq 4$, equipped with a left-invariant non-parallelizable complex structure J. Let $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ be a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe on (G,J) satisfying (10) and let Ψ be the left-invariant closed (3,0)-form defined in (24), i.e. $\Psi := \zeta^1 \wedge \zeta^2 \wedge \zeta^3$.

In view of Proposition 3.3 and Theorem 3.7, the coefficient $r(t)^2$ of the metric ω_t in (36) evolves as

$$\partial_t r(t)^2 = \frac{c_1}{4} K(t, \alpha', \tau) ,$$

where the right-hand side is given by

$$K(t, \alpha', \tau) \zeta^{12\overline{1}\overline{2}} = i\partial \overline{\partial}\omega_t - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \text{Tr}(Rm^{\tau} \wedge Rm^{\tau}).$$

On the other hand, by means of (28) and Theorem 3.7, we get

$$i\partial \overline{\partial}\omega_t = B\,\zeta^{12\overline{1}\overline{2}}\,,$$

for the constant $B = B(\omega_0) = \frac{c_1c_2 - |c_5|^2}{16}(\rho + \lambda^2 - 2x) \in \mathbb{R}$; while, by means of Proposition 3.9, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau} \wedge Rm_t^{\tau}) = \frac{C}{r(t)^4} \, \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}} \, ,$$

for a constant $C = C(\omega_0, \tau) \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, we get

$$\frac{c_1}{4} K(t, \alpha', \tau) = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{r(t)^4},$$

where $K_1 = \frac{c_1}{4}B$ and $K_2 = -\frac{\alpha' c_1}{16}C$, and the following theorem holds.

Theorem 4.1. The Anomaly flow (3) is equivalent to the model problem

$$\frac{d}{dt}r(t)^2 = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{r(t)^4},$$
(38)

where $K_1, K_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ are constants depending on $K_1 = K_1(\omega_0)$ and $K_2 = K_2(\omega_0, \alpha', \tau)$.

4.1. Qualitative behaviour of the model problem.

We now investigate the qualitative behaviour of the model problem (38), which can be rewritten as

$$h'(t) = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(t)^2}, \qquad h(t) > 0.$$
 (39)

A solution h(t) to (39) is said to be *immortal*, eternal or ancient if its defining interval (T^-, T^+) is equal to $(-\varepsilon, +\infty)$, $(-\infty, +\infty)$ or $(-\infty, \varepsilon)$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$, respectively.

When either $K_1 = 0$ or $K_2 = 0$ the ODE (39) can be explicitly solved, otherwise we work as follows.

• $K_1 > 0$ and $K_2 > 0$.

Under these assumptions, (39) does not admit any stationary point. Nonetheless, we have the following

Proposition 4.2. Any solution h(t) to the model problem (39) is immortal. In particular, $h(t) \sim K_1 \cdot t$ as $t \to +\infty$.

Proof. Let h(t) be a solution to the model problem (39). Since

$$h'(t) = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(t)^2} > 0,$$

it follows that $h(t) \geq h(0)$, for every $t \in [0, T^+)$. On the other hand,

$$h'(t) \le K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(0)^2}$$

and the long-time existence follows, since $h(t) \le ct + h(0)$ with $c := K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(0)^2}$.

Let us now suppose by contradiction that $h'(t) \to 0$ as $t \to +\infty$. Then, this would imply

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left(K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(t)^2} \right) = 0,$$

which is not possible since $K_1, K_2 > 0$. Therefore, we have

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} h'(t) = K_1$$

and hence $h(t) \sim K_1 \cdot t$ as $t \to +\infty$. Finally, a similar argument shows that if the solution exists backward in time for any t < 0, then

$$h(t) \sim K_1 \cdot t$$
, as $t \to -\infty$,

which is not possible since h(t) > 0.

• $K_1 > 0$ and $K_2 < 0$.

Let us denote by $h_0 := \sqrt{-K_2/K_1}$. Then, we have

Proposition 4.3. Let h(t) be a solution to the model problem (39). It follows that

- (i) if $h(0) = h_0$, then the solution is stationary;
- (ii) if $h(0) > h_0$, then the solution is eternal and $h(t) \sim K_1 \cdot t$ as $t \to +\infty$;
- (iii) if $h(0) < h_0$, then the solution is ancient.

Furthermore, any solution detects the stationary point as $t \to -\infty$.

Proof. Let h(t) be the solution to (39). Then, a direct computation yields that h_0 is the unique stationary point to the flow, and the first claim follows.

Now, let us suppose $h(0) > h_0$. Then, there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $h(0) = \sqrt{-\frac{K_2}{K_1} + \varepsilon}$. Therefore, we have

$$h'(0) = \frac{\varepsilon K_1^2}{-K_2 + \varepsilon K_1} > 0,$$

and hence h(t)' > 0 for every $t \in (T^-, T^+)$. On the other hand,

$$h'(t) \le K_1 \implies h(t) \le K_1 t + h(0), \text{ for any } t \ge 0,$$

and the long-time existence follows. Moreover, since h(t) is always increasing and h_0 is the unique stationary point to the flow, it follows $h(t) \to h_0$ as $t \to -\infty$. Thus, the solution h(t) is eternal. Finally, let us assume by contradiction that $h'(t) \to 0$ as $t \to +\infty$. Then, this would be equivalent to require

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(t)^2} = 0,$$

which is not possible since $h(0) > h_0$, and hence

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} h'(t) = K_1$$

proves the second claim.

Now, let us assume $h(0) = \sqrt{-\frac{K_2}{K_1} - \varepsilon} < h_0$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, a direct computation yields that

$$h'(0) = \frac{-\varepsilon K_1^2}{-K_2 + \varepsilon K_1} < 0,$$

which in turn implies h'(t) < 0 for every $t \in (T^-, T^+)$. On the other hand, it follows

$$h(t) \le \frac{-\varepsilon K_1^2}{-K_2 + \varepsilon K_1} t + h(0), \quad \text{for any } t \ge 0,$$

and hence $T^+ < +\infty$. Moreover, since h(t) is decreasing, we have

$$\lim_{t \to T^+} h'(t) = \lim_{t \to T^+} \left(K_1 + \frac{K_2}{h(t)^2} \right) = -\infty.$$

Finally, since h(t) is always decreasing and there exists a unique stationary solution h_0 to the flow, we have that $h(t) \to h_0$ as $t \to -\infty$ and the last claim follows.

• $K_1 < 0$ and $K_2 < 0$.

Under these assumptions, we have

Proposition 4.4. Any solution h(t) to (39) is ancient. In particular, $h(t) \sim -K_1 \cdot t$ as $t \to -\infty$.

The proof of this result can be easily recovered using the same arguments as in Proposition 4.2.

• $K_1 < 0$ and $K_2 > 0$.

Arguing in the same way of Proposition 4.3, we get

Proposition 4.5. Let h(t) be a solution to (39). It follows that

- (i) if $h(0) = h_0$, then the solution is stationary;
- (ii) if $h(0) > h_0$, then the solution is eternal and $h(t) \sim -K_1 \cdot t$ as $t \to -\infty$;
- (iii) if $h(0) < h_0$, then the solution is immortal.

Furthermore, any solution detects the stationary point as $t \to +\infty$.

4.2. The sign of K_1 and its relation to the Fu-Wang-Wu conformal invariant.

We now investigate the relation between the constant K_1 appearing in the model problem (38) and the conformal invariant of ω_0 introduced and studied by Fu, Wang and Wu in [17]. We also study the sign of K_1 in our class of nilpotent Lie groups.

Let X be a compact n-dimensional complex manifold and ω a Hermitian metric on X. In [17], the notion of Gauduchon metric has been generalized by the so-called k-th Gauduchon equation

$$\partial \overline{\partial} \omega^k \wedge \omega^{n-k-1} = 0, \qquad 1 \le k \le n-1.$$

Then, since the k-th Gauduchon equation may not admit a solution, Fu, Wang and Wu considered the equation (in the conformal class of ω) given by

$$\frac{i}{2} \partial \overline{\partial} (e^v \omega^k) \wedge \omega^{n-k-1} = \gamma_k(\omega) e^v \omega^n, \qquad 1 \le k \le n-1,$$
(40)

proving that there always exist a unique constant $\gamma_k(\omega)$ and a function $v \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(X)$ (unique up to a constant) satisfying (40). Moreover, the constant $\gamma_k(\omega)$ is invariant under biholomorphisms and it smoothly depends on the metric ω , and its sign is invariant in the conformal class of ω [17].

Now, let (X, ω) be a compact non-Kähler Hermitian manifold. In view of [24, Lemma 3.7] and [24, Proposition 3.8], for any $1 \le k \le n-2$ it follows that

- (i) if ω is balanced, then the constant $\gamma_k(\omega) > 0$;
- (ii) if ω is locally conformally Kähler, then the constant $\gamma_k(\omega) < 0$.

Therefore, we can apply these results to compute the sign of $K_1 = K_1(\omega_0)$ in the model problem (38). Indeed, by [26, Proposition 2.7], any left-invariant Hermitian metric ω_0 on (G, J) given by (7) satisfies

$$\frac{i}{2} \, \partial \bar{\partial} \omega_0 \wedge \omega_0 = \frac{k_0^4}{8i \, \det \omega_0} \left(\rho + \lambda^2 - 2 \, x \right) \, \omega_0^3 \,,$$

and hence

$$\gamma_1(\omega_0) = \frac{k_0^4}{8i \det \omega_0} \left(\rho + \lambda^2 - 2x \right) .$$

On the other hand, since $K_1(\omega_0) = \frac{c_1 k_0^2}{8} (\rho + \lambda^2 - 2x)$ in the model problem (38), we get

$$K_1(\omega_0) = \frac{c_1 i \det \omega_0}{k_0^2} \gamma_1(\omega_0).$$

In particular, the sign of $K_1(\omega_0)$ is equal to the one of $\gamma_1(\omega_0)$, which is an invariant of the conformal class of ω_0 . Actually, in our context we have that

$$sign K_1 = sign (\rho + \lambda^2 - 2x),$$

and hence it only depends on the complex structure J. This fact for γ_1 was first noticed in [16]. Moreover, since an invariant Hermitian metric on a complex nilmanifold of complex dimension 3 is 1-st Gauduchon if and only if it is pluriclosed [16, Proposition 3.3], we have the following proposition.

Proposition 4.6. The sign of K_1 in the model problem (38) only depends on the complex structure J on G. Moreover:

- (i) If ω_0 is balanced, then $K_1 > 0$.
- (ii) If ω_0 is locally conformally Kähler, then $K_1 < 0$.
- (iii) The metric ω_0 is pluriclosed if and only if $K_1 = 0$.

In Table 1, we provide the classification of the Lie groups admitting a complex structure satisfying (10), together with the sign of the invariant K_1 .

The first column of Table 1 describes the nilpotent Lie algebra associated to the Lie group. Here we use the notation for which the algebras are named as \mathfrak{n}_k and then described (see e.g. [43]). Moreover, we denote by N_k the Lie group corresponding to \mathfrak{n}_k (second column of the table). About the other columns, we use the following convention. The symbol " \checkmark " means that the sign of K_1 is the one given in the table for any complex structure on the corresponding Lie group N_k , whereas " $\checkmark_{(J)}$ " means that there exist complex structures J on N_k such that the sign of K_1 is the one described by the column. Therefore, different complex structures may lead to different sings on the same group N_k . Finally, we use "-" to denote that there are no complex structures of the given sign.

Lie algebra	Lie group	$K_1 < 0$	$K_1 = 0$	$K_1 > 0$
$\mathfrak{n}_2 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 12, 34)$	N_2	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	$\checkmark_{(J)}$
$\mathfrak{n}_3 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 12 + 34)$	N_3	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	_	$\checkmark_{(J)}$
$\mathfrak{n}_4 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 12, 14 + 23)$	N_4	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	$\checkmark_{(J)}$
$\mathfrak{n}_5 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 13 + 42, 14 + 23)$	N_5	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	$\checkmark_{(J)}$	$\checkmark_{(J)}$
$\mathfrak{n}_6 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 12, 13)$	N_6	_	_	✓
$\mathfrak{n}_8 = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 12)$	N_8	_	√	_

Table 1. The sign of K_1

Let us recall that the groups N_2 , N_3 , N_4 , N_5 and N_6 admit left-invariant balanced metrics, while N_3 is the unique group admitting locally conformally Kähler metrics [43]. We refer to [26] for a classification of the complex structures satisfying $K_1 < 0$, = 0 or > 0.

Remark 4.7. The nilpotent Lie group N_3 is given by the product of \mathbb{R} with the 5-dimensional generalized Heisenberg group, while N_5 is the real Lie group underlying the Iwasawa manifold.

We stress that, by an appropriate choice either of the Gauduchon connection ∇^{τ} or of the slope parameter α' , the sign of the constant $K_2 = K_2(\omega_0, \alpha', \tau)$ in the model problem (38) can take any value. Therefore, the results presented in Section 4.1 apply to every nilpotent Lie group in Table 1. In particular, we get

Proposition 4.8. Any Lie group in Table 1 with $K_1 \neq 0$ admits both immortal and ancient left-invariant solutions to the Anomaly flow (3).

This result also extends to nilmanifolds arising from the quotient of a Lie group N_k by a co-compact lattice.

4.3. Convergence of the nilmanifolds.

We are now in a position to prove our convergence result. Note that, a main ingredient in the proof of Theorem B will be given by the qualitative behaviour of the model problem studied in Section 4.1, together with Theorem 3.7.

Let us recall that a family of compact metric spaces (X_t, d_t) converges to a metric space (\bar{X}, \bar{d}) in *Gromov-Hausdorff topology* as $t \to T$, if for any increasing sequence $t_n \to T$ there exists a

sequence of ε_{t_n} -approximations $\varphi_{t_n}: X_{t_n} \to \bar{X}$ satisfying $\varepsilon_{t_n} \to 0$. By definition, $\varphi: X \to \bar{X}$ is an ε -approximation if

$$|d_t(x, x') - \bar{d}(\varphi(x), \varphi(x'))| < \varepsilon$$
, for any $x, x' \in X$,

and for all $y \in \bar{X}$ there exists $x \in X$ such that $\bar{d}(y, \varphi(x)) < \varepsilon$ (see e.g. [40]).

Proof of Theorem B. Let $M = \Gamma \setminus G$ be a nilmanifold arising from our class of nilpotent Lie groups and let $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ be an invariant (1,0)-frame of X = (M,J). By means of (10), M gives rise to a fibration over a real 4-dimensional tours $\pi: M \to \mathbb{T}^4$ with fibers spanned by the real and imaginary part of ζ^3 . On the other hand, by means of Theorem 3.7 and the results presented in Section 4.1, one gets that either $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ or $\{\zeta^3\}$ shrink to zero along $(1+t)^{-1}\omega_t$ as $t \to \infty$, depending on the signs of K_1 and K_2 , and hence the claim follows.

5. Evolution of the holomorphic vector bundle

In this section we study the Anomaly flow (1) on a class of Lie groups belonging to (10). Explicit computations will be performed on the nilpotent Lie group N_3 . In particular, we will prove that under certain choices of the initial metric and the connection, the Anomaly flow converges to a (non-flat) solution of the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system.

Let G be a 6-dimensional Lie group and let J be a left-invariant non-parallelizable complex structure on G. Let us suppose that there exists a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^1,\zeta^2,\zeta^3\}$ on G satisfying the structure equations

$$\begin{cases} d\zeta^{1} = d\zeta^{2} = 0, \\ d\zeta^{3} = \rho \zeta^{12} + \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + (x + iy) \zeta^{2\bar{2}}, \end{cases}$$
(41)

where $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\rho \in \{0, 1\}$ (i.e. we are considering $\lambda = 0$ in (10)). Let also the holomorphic vector bundle be $E := T^{1,0}G$, and

$$\Psi := \zeta^1 \wedge \zeta^2 \wedge \zeta^3 \,.$$

Moreover, let the left-invariant Hermitian metrics (ω_0, H_0) be both diagonal, i.e.

$$\omega_0 = \frac{i}{2} \left(r_0^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + s_0^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + k_0^2 \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right)$$

and

$$H_0 = \frac{i}{2} \left(\tilde{r}_0^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \tilde{s}_0^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \tilde{k}_0^2 \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right) .$$

Then, our main result is the following

Theorem 5.1. The left-invariant metrics ω_t and H_t solving the Anomaly flow (1) remain diagonal along the flow, and the coefficients of H_t evolve via

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{r}(t)^{2} = \frac{1}{3c_{1}c_{2}^{2}} \Big[2\big(c_{2}(\kappa+1)^{2} - c_{1}\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}\big)r(t)^{2}\tilde{k}(t)^{2} \\
- c_{1}c_{2}(\kappa-1)(c_{1}x+c_{2})\tilde{r}(t)^{2} \Big] \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^{2}}{r(t)^{4}\tilde{r}(t)^{2}}, \\
\frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{s}(t)^{2} = \frac{1}{3c_{1}^{2}c_{2}} \Big[2\big(c_{1}(\kappa+1)^{2}(x^{2}+y^{2}) - c_{2}\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}\big)r(t)^{2}\tilde{k}(t)^{2} \\
- c_{1}^{2}(\kappa-1)\big(c_{1}(x^{2}+y^{2}) + c_{2}x\big)\tilde{s}(t)^{2} \Big] \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^{2}}{r(t)^{4}\tilde{s}(t)^{2}}, \\
\frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{k}(t)^{2} = \frac{2}{3c_{1}^{2}c_{2}^{2}} \Big[\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}\big(c_{1}^{2}\tilde{s}(t)^{4} + c_{2}^{2}\tilde{r}(t)^{4}\big) \\
- c_{1}c_{2}(\kappa+1)^{2}\big((x^{2}+y^{2})\tilde{r}(t)^{4} + \tilde{s}(t)^{4}\big) \Big] \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^{6}}{r(t)^{2}\tilde{r}(t)^{4}\tilde{s}(t)^{4}}.
\end{cases} (42)$$

To prove our statement, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 5.2. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1,

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A_0^{\kappa} \wedge A_0^{\kappa}) = C_0 \, \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}},$$

where $C_0 = C_0(\lambda, x, y; \omega_0, H_0; \kappa)$ is a constant depending both on the Hermitian structures and the connection ∇^{κ} .

Proof. The proof directly follows by Lemma 7.1 in Appendix B.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. Let us focus on the evolution of H_t via

$$H_t^{-1}\partial_t H_t = \frac{\omega_t^2 \wedge A_t^{\kappa}}{\omega_t^3} \,. \tag{43}$$

We first show that there exists $\widetilde{T} > 0$ such that H_t holds diagonal for any $t \in [0, \widetilde{T})$. To this end, it is enough to prove that $\omega_t^2 \wedge (A_t^{\kappa})_{\overline{j}}^i = 0$ for any $i \neq j$ and t = 0. Thus, let H and ω be two left-invariant diagonal Hermitian metrics on G given by

$$H = \frac{i}{2} \left(\tilde{r}^2 \, \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \tilde{s}^2 \, \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \tilde{k}^2 \, \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right) \, , \qquad \tilde{s}^2, \tilde{r}^2, \tilde{k}^2 > 0 \, ,$$

and

$$\omega = \frac{i}{2} \left(r^2 \, \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + s^2 \, \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + k^2 \, \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right) \, , \qquad s^2, r^2, k^2 > 0 \, .$$

If we consider $\{e^1,\dots,e^6\}$ a left-invariant coframe on G such that

$$\delta_1 \zeta^1 = e^1 + i e^2 = e^1 - i J e^1$$
, $\delta_2 \zeta^2 = e^3 + i e^4 = e^3 - i J e^3$, $\delta_3 \zeta^3 = e^5 + i e^6 = e^5 - i J e^5$

with $\delta_1 = r$, $\delta_2 = s$ and $\delta_3 = k$, then we get

$$(A^{\kappa})^{\underline{i}}_{\bar{j}} = \frac{1}{\delta_{i}\delta_{i}} \left((A^{\kappa})^{e^{i}}_{e^{j}} + i (A^{\kappa})^{e^{i}}_{Je^{j}} - i (A^{\kappa})^{Je^{i}}_{e^{j}} + (A^{\kappa})^{Je^{i}}_{Je^{j}} \right),$$

where $(A^{\kappa})_{e^j}^{e^i}$ are the curvature 2-forms of ∇^{κ} explicitly computed in Appendix B (see the proof of Lemma 7.1). Thus, the only non-zero entries in the right-hand side of (43) are given by

$$\frac{\omega^{2} \wedge (A^{\kappa})_{\bar{1}}^{1}}{\omega^{3}} = \frac{1}{12} \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{r^{4} s^{2} k^{2} \tilde{r}^{4}} \left[r^{2} \tilde{k}^{2} \left((\kappa + 1)^{2} s^{2} - \rho(\kappa - 1)^{2} r^{2} \right) - 4k^{2} \tilde{r}^{2} (\kappa - 1) (xr^{2} + s^{2}) \right],$$

$$\frac{\omega^{2} \wedge (A^{\kappa})_{\bar{2}}^{2}}{\omega^{3}} = \frac{1}{12} \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{r^{4} s^{2} k^{2} \tilde{s}^{4}} \left[s^{2} \tilde{k}^{2} \left((\kappa + 1)^{2} (x^{2} + y^{2}) r^{2} - \rho(\kappa - 1)^{2} s^{2} \right) - 4k^{2} \tilde{s}^{2} (\kappa - 1) \left((x^{2} + y^{2}) r^{2} + x s^{2} \right) \right],$$

$$\frac{\omega^{2} \wedge (A^{\kappa})_{\bar{3}}^{3}}{\omega^{3}} = \frac{1}{12} \frac{\tilde{k}^{4}}{r^{4} s^{2} k^{2} \tilde{s}^{4} \tilde{s}^{4}} \left[\rho(\kappa - 1)^{2} \left(r^{4} \tilde{s}^{4} + s^{4} \tilde{r}^{4} \right) - (\kappa + 1)^{2} r^{2} s^{2} \left((x^{2} + y^{2}) \tilde{r}^{4} + \tilde{s}^{4} \right) \right],$$

$$(44)$$

and hence our claim follows, since ω_0 and H_0 are both diagonal.

On the other hand, by means of Lemma 5.2 and Corollary 3.8, there also exists $\widehat{T} > 0$ such that ω_t holds diagonal for any $t \in [0,\widehat{T})$. Therefore, by the existence of $\widehat{T} > 0$ and $\widetilde{T} > 0$, it follows that ω_t and H_t hold diagonal for any t along the flow. Finally, the evolution equations in (42) are a direct consequence of (44), taking into account that $s(t)^2 = \frac{c_2}{c_1} r(t)^2$ and $k(t)^2 = \frac{c_1 c_2}{8}$ by Corollary 3.8. \square

Remark 5.3. Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.1, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A_t^{\kappa} \wedge A_t^{\kappa}) = C_t \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}$$

where $C_t = C_t(\rho, x, y; \omega_t, H_t; \kappa)$ is a one-parameter function depending both on the Hermitian structures and the connection ∇^{κ} .

Remark 5.4. Theorem 5.1 applies to the following Lie groups N_k in Table 1 and complex structures in (41): (1) $\rho = 0$, y = 1 and $x \in \mathbb{R}$, the Lie group is N_2 ; (2) $\rho = y = 0$ and $x = \pm 1$, the Lie group is N_3 ; (3) $\rho = 1$, $y \ge 0$ and $1 + 4x > 4y^2$, the Lie group is N_5 ; (4) $\rho = x = y = 0$, the Lie group is N_8 . By [4], this is a classification of all the complex structures in (41). Regarding the existence of balanced Hermitian metrics, the list reduces to:

- $\rho = y = 0$, x = -1, the Lie group is N_3 ;
- $\rho = 1$, y = 0 and $x \in (-1/4, 0)$, the Lie group is N_5 .

Our next result shows that if the initial metric ω_0 is balanced, then there always exists a connection ∇^{κ} such that (42) only admits constant solutions.

Proposition 5.5. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1, if the initial metric ω_0 is balanced, then there exists a Gauduchon connection ∇^{κ} for which the right-hand side of the system (42) identically vanishes, and the only admissible solutions to the Anomaly flow (1) are those with constant H_t , i.e $H_t \equiv H_0$.

Proof. As we already showed in the proof of Theorem 3.4, a diagonal metric ω_0 is balanced if and only if $c_1(x+iy) + c_2 = 0$, which is equivalent to require

$$x = -\frac{c_2}{c_1}$$
 and $y = 0$, (45)

with $c_1 = \frac{\sqrt{8} r_0 k_0}{s_0} > 0$ and $c_2 = \frac{\sqrt{8} s_0 k_0}{r_0} > 0$ by Corollary 3.8. Therefore, by means of (45), the system (42) can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{r}(t)^2 = \frac{2}{3c_1c_2^2} \Big(c_2(\kappa+1)^2 - c_1\rho(\kappa-1)^2\Big) \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^4}{r(t)^2\tilde{r}(t)^2}\,,\\ \\ \frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{s}(t)^2 = \frac{2}{3c_1^3} \Big(c_2(\kappa+1)^2 - c_1\rho(\kappa-1)^2\Big) \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^4}{r(t)^2\tilde{s}(t)^2}\,,\\ \\ \frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{k}(t)^2 = \frac{2}{3c_1^3c_2^2} \Big(c_1\rho(\kappa-1)^2 - c_2(\kappa+1)^2\Big) \frac{\left(c_1^2\tilde{s}(t)^4 + c_2^2\tilde{r}(t)^4\right)\tilde{k}(t)^6}{r(t)^2\tilde{r}(t)^4\tilde{s}(t)^4}\,. \end{cases}$$

Then, the right-hand side of the system identically vanishes if and only if

$$c_2(\kappa+1)^2 - c_1\rho(\kappa-1)^2 = (c_2 - \rho c_1)\kappa^2 + 2(c_2 + \rho c_1)\kappa + c_2 - \rho c_1 = 0.$$
 (46)

Finally, since the discriminant of this quadratic polynomial is given by

$$\Delta = 32\rho c_1 c_2 > 0$$

the claim follows. \Box

Remarkably, by the proof of Proposition 5.5, we can distinguish the following two remarkable cases:

- If $c_2 = \rho c_1$, then the only solution to the polynomial (46) is $\kappa = 0$. Therefore, ∇^{κ} is given by the *Lichnerowicz connection* ∇^0 .
- If $c_2 \neq \rho c_1$, then the solutions to (46) are either the Strominger-Bismut connection ($\kappa = -1$) when $\rho = 0$, or the Gauduchon connections $\nabla^{\kappa^{\pm}}$ corresponding to the values $\kappa^{\pm} = \frac{c_1 + c_2 \pm 2\sqrt{c_1 c_2}}{c_1 c_2}$ when $\rho = 1$.

Remark 5.6. Given a solution H_t to (42), it may happen that its Gauduchon connection ∇_t^{κ} does not satisfy the condition $(A_t^{\kappa})^{2,0} = (A_t^{\kappa})^{0,2} = 0$. For instance, let us consider the Lie group arising from (41) when $\rho = 1$, $x = -\frac{1}{8}$ and y = 0, which corresponds to N_5 (see Remark 5.4). Then, the diagonal metric $\omega_0 = \frac{i}{2} \left(\zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \frac{1}{8} \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right)$ on N_5 is balanced and, by means of Proposition 5.5, one gets that for $\kappa^{\pm} = \frac{9 \pm 4 \sqrt{2}}{7}$ the system (42) is solved by the constant metric $H_t \equiv \frac{i}{2} \left(\zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \zeta^{3\bar{3}} \right)$. Nonetheless, the Gauduchon connections $\nabla^{\kappa^{\pm}}$ do not satisfy the condition $(A_t^{\kappa^{\pm}})^{2,0} = (A_t^{\kappa^{\pm}})^{0,2} = 0$. Indeed, by Appendix B (see the proof of Lemma 7.1) one gets that $(A^{\kappa^{\pm}})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ has non-zero component in $e^{14} + e^{23} = \frac{-i}{4\sqrt{2}} (\zeta^{12} - \zeta^{\bar{12}})$, and hence its (2,0) and (0,2) components do not identically vanish.

In the following section we prove that, on the Lie group N_3 , solutions to the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system can obtained as stationary points to the Anomaly flow.

5.1. Anomaly flow on N_3 and solutions to the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system.

Let us consider the simply-connected nilpotent Lie group N_3 , which admits a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ satisfying the structure equations

$$\begin{cases} d\zeta^{1} = d\zeta^{2} = 0, \\ d\zeta^{3} = \zeta^{1\bar{1}} - \zeta^{2\bar{2}}. \end{cases}$$
(47)

Next we study the Anomaly flow (1) on N_3 for ∇^{κ} being the Chern connection (i.e. $\kappa = 1$) and the Strominger-Bismut connection (i.e. $\kappa = -1$).

• The Chern connection on $T^{1,0}N_3$.

We start investigating the setting of Theorem 5.1 in the special case when $\kappa = 1$, i.e. ∇_t^{κ} is the Chern connection on $(T^{1,0}N_3, H_t)$.

Theorem 5.7. If $\kappa = 1$, then the coefficients of ω_t and H_t evolve via the ODEs system

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt} r(t)^2 = \frac{c_1^2 c_2}{2^5} + \alpha'(1 - \tau)(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5) \frac{c_1^3 (c_1^2 + c_2^2)}{2^{11} r(t)^4}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{r}(t)^2 = \frac{8}{3c_1 c_2} \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^4}{r(t)^2 \tilde{r}(t)^2}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{s}(t)^2 = \frac{8}{3c_1 c_2} \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^4}{r(t)^2 \tilde{s}(t)^2}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{k}(t)^2 = -\frac{8}{3c_1 c_2} \left(\tilde{r}(t)^4 + \tilde{s}(t)^4\right) \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^6}{r(t)^2 \tilde{r}(t)^4 \tilde{s}(t)^4}.
\end{cases} (48)$$

Moreover, if ω_0 and H_0 are both balanced, then H_t evolves as

$$H_t = \frac{i}{2}\tilde{r}(t)^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \frac{i}{2}\tilde{r}(t)^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \frac{i}{2}\frac{\tilde{r}_0^4 \tilde{k}_0^2}{\tilde{r}(t)^4} \zeta^{3\bar{3}},$$

where the function $\tilde{r}(t)^2$ satisfies

$$\frac{d}{dt}\,\tilde{r}(t)^2 = \frac{8}{3c_1^2} \frac{\tilde{r}(0)^8 \tilde{k}(0)^4}{r(t)^2 \tilde{r}(t)^{10}} \tag{49}$$

In particular, if $\tau \neq 1$ (i.e. ∇_t^{τ} is different from the Chern connection), then there exists a convenient choice of α' such that the solution to the system is given by $\omega_t \equiv \omega_0$ and $\tilde{r}(t) = \sqrt[12]{At + B}$, with $A = \frac{16\,\tilde{r}_0^8\,\tilde{k}_0^4}{c_1^2\,r_0^2}$ and $B = \tilde{r}_0^{12}$.

Proof. By means of Proposition 3.3, the first equation of the Anomaly flow (1) reduces to

$$\frac{d}{dt}r(t)^2 = \frac{c_1}{4}K(t,\alpha',\tau), \qquad (50)$$

where $K(t, \alpha', \tau)$ is given by

$$K(t,\alpha',\tau)\,\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}} = i\partial\overline{\partial}\omega_t - \frac{\alpha'}{4}\left(\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^\tau \wedge Rm_t^\tau) - \operatorname{Tr}(A_t^1 \wedge A_t^1)\right).$$

By Corollary 3.8 and Proposition 2.3, a direct computation yields that

$$i\partial\overline{\partial}\omega_t = \frac{c_1c_2}{2^3}\,\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}\,,$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Rm_t^{\tau} \wedge Rm_t^{\tau}) = (\tau - 1)(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5) \frac{c_1^2 + c_2^2}{2^7} \frac{c_1^2}{r(t)^4} \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}},$$

while, by means of Lemma 7.1, for $\kappa = 1$ we have $\text{Tr}(A_t^1 \wedge A_t^1) = 0$. Therefore, by using (50) and (42) for $\kappa = 1$, $\rho = 0 = y$ and x = -1, one gets the ODEs system (48).

Now, let ω_0 and H_0 be both balanced. By means of (35) and (30)–(34), the balanced condition implies that

$$c_2 = c_1$$
 and $\tilde{s}_0^2 = \tilde{r}_0^2$.

The latter equality, together with the fact that the functions $\tilde{r}(t)^2$ and $\tilde{s}(t)^2$ satisfy similar equations in (48), leads to $\tilde{s}(t)^2 = \tilde{r}(t)^2$. Thus, the ODEs system (48) reduces to

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt} r(t)^2 = \frac{c_1^3}{2^5} + \alpha'(1-\tau)(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5) \frac{c_1^5}{2^{10} r(t)^4}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{r}(t)^2 = \frac{8}{3c_1^2} \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^4}{r(t)^2 \tilde{r}(t)^2}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{k}(t)^2 = -\frac{16}{3c_1^2} \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^6}{r(t)^2 \tilde{r}(t)^4}.
\end{cases} (51)$$

Therefore, by considering the quotient of $\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{r}(t)^2$ with $\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{k}(t)^2$, we get

$$\int \frac{1}{\tilde{r}(t)^2} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{r}(t)^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{1}{\tilde{k}(t)^2} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{k}(t)^2 \, .$$

This in turn implies

$$\tilde{k}(t) = \frac{\tilde{r}_0^2 \tilde{k}_0}{\tilde{r}(t)^2} \,,$$

and hence (49) follows.

Finally, for any value of r_0^2 and $\tau \neq 1$, there exists a convenient value of α' making the right-hand side of the first equation in (51) equal to zero. In this case we can explicitly solve the system with

$$\tilde{r}(t) = \sqrt[12]{A t + B},$$

where
$$A = \frac{16\,\tilde{r}_0^8\,\tilde{k}_0^4}{c_1^2\,r_0^2}$$
 and $B = \tilde{r}_0^{12}$.

We stress that the explicit solutions found in Theorem 5.7 are not stationary solutions to the flow, and hence they do not solve the Hull-Strominger system. In the next subsection, we will construct stationary solutions assuming ∇_t^{κ} to be the Strominger-Bismut connection.

• The Strominger-Bismut connection on $T^{1,0}N_3$.

Here we consider the setting of Theorem 5.1 in the special case when $\kappa = -1$, i.e. ∇_t^{κ} is the Strominger-Bismut connection on $(T^{1,0}N_3, H_t)$.

Theorem 5.8. If $\kappa = -1$, then the coefficients of ω_t and H_t evolve via the ODEs system

From 5.8. If
$$k = -1$$
, then the coefficients of ω_t and H_t evolve via the ODEs system
$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt} r(t)^2 = \frac{c_1^2 c_2}{2^5} + \alpha'(1 - \tau)(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5) \frac{c_1^3(c_1^2 + c_2^2)}{8^4 r(t)^4} - \alpha' \frac{c_1}{2} \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^4 (\tilde{r}(t)^4 + \tilde{s}(t)^4)}{\tilde{r}(t)^4 \tilde{s}(t)^4}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{r}(t)^2 = \frac{2}{3c_2} (c_2 - c_1) \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^2}{r(t)^4}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{s}(t)^2 = \frac{2}{3c_2} (c_1 - c_2) \frac{\tilde{k}(t)^2}{r(t)^4}, \\
\frac{d}{dt} \tilde{k}(t)^2 = 0.
\end{cases} (52)$$

If the initial metric ω_0 is balanced, then $H_t \equiv H_0$ is constant, the Strominger-Bismut connection ∇^{-1} of H_0 is a (non-flat) instanton with respect to ω_t , and the Anomaly flow reduces to the ODE

$$\frac{d}{dt} r(t)^2 = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{r(t)^4}, (53)$$

where $K_1 = K_1(\omega_0, \alpha', H_0)$ and $K_2 = K_2(\omega_0, \alpha', \tau)$ are given by

$$K_1 := \frac{c_1^3}{2^5} - \alpha' \frac{c_1}{2} \frac{\tilde{k}_0^4(\tilde{r}_0^4 + \tilde{s}_0^4)}{\tilde{r}_0^4 \tilde{s}_0^4}, \qquad K_2 := \alpha'(1 - \tau)(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5) \frac{c_1^5}{2^{10}}.$$
 (54)

Therefore, starting from any balanced initial metric ω_0 on N_3 , we have the following:

- (i) Given $\alpha' \neq 0$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$, the metric H_0 can be conveniently chosen in order to obtain $K_1 < 0, = 0$ or > 0 in (53), and so there always exists a stationary point to the Anomaly flow which solves the Hull-Strominger system.
- (ii) Furthermore, if $\alpha' \neq 0$ and $\tau = -1$ (i.e. ∇_t^{τ} is the Strominger-Bismut connection of ω_t), then ∇_t^{-1} is an instanton with respect to ω_t , and hence there exists a stationary point to the Anomaly flow which solves the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system.

Proof. The first part of the statement follows the same argument of Theorem 5.7. We just mention that, by means of Lemma 7.1 for $\kappa = -1$, $\rho = 0 = y$ and x = -1, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A_t^{-1} \wedge A_t^{-1}) = -8 \frac{\tilde{r}(t)^4 + \tilde{s}(t)^4}{\tilde{r}(t)^4 \tilde{s}(t)^4} \tilde{k}(t)^4 \zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}.$$
 (55)

Hence, the ODEs system (52) is obtained starting from (42).

Now, let us assume ω_0 balanced. By means of (35) and (30)–(34), we have

$$c_1=c_2\,,$$

and hence the ODEs system (52) reduces to $\tilde{r}(t)$, $\tilde{s}(t)$, $\tilde{k}(t)$ constant (i.e. $H_t \equiv H_0$), and

$$\frac{d}{dt} r(t)^2 = K_1 + \frac{K_2}{r(t)^4} \,,$$

with K_1 and K_2 as given in (54). Therefore, we get that $\omega_t^2 \wedge A^{-1} = 0$ for any $t \in (T_-, T_+)$ and, by means of the curvature forms given in the proof of Lemma 7.1, a direct computation yields that the curvature of the Strominger-Bismut connection satisfies

$$(A^{-1})^{2,0} = (A^{-1})^{0,2} = 0. (56)$$

Hence, ∇^{-1} is an instanton with respect to ω_t for any $t \in (T_-, T_+)$. It is non-flat because $\text{Tr}(A^{-1} \wedge A^{-1}) \neq 0$ by (55).

Finally, the last two claims are consequences of (54), (56) and similar arguments to those in Section 4. In greater detail, given $\alpha' \neq 0$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$, we can choose a metric H_0 such that K_1 has opposite sign to that of K_2 (notice that if $K_2 = 0$ then we can take H_0 so that K_1 also vanishes). Now, (i) follows from a qualitative analysis similar to that given in Section 4. For the proof of (ii), it only remains to prove that the Strominger-Bismut connection ∇_t^{-1} of the metric ω_t is an instanton with respect to ω_t . This follows from Appendix A for $\tau = -1$, $\rho = \lambda = y = 0$, x = -1 and u = 0 (because the metric ω_t remains diagonal). Indeed, in this case it is direct to check that $(Rm_t^{-1})^{2,0} = (Rm_t^{-1})^{0,2} = 0$, so there exists a stationary point to the Anomaly flow which solves the system given by (2) and (5), i.e. the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system.

By Theorem 5.8 (ii), when both ∇_t^{τ} and ∇_t^{κ} are Strominger-Bismut connections and the initial metric ω_0 is balanced, the Anomaly flow (1) always converges to a solution of the Hull-Strominger-Ivanov system. We note that explicit solutions of this kind were previously found in [13, Theorem 5.1] and in [28, Theorem 3.3] by means of other methods.

6. Appendix A

In this Appendix we provide the curvature forms for a connection ∇^{τ} in the Gauduchon family given any left-invariant metric ω .

For the computation of the curvature forms we use (22) with respect to the adapted basis $\{e^l\}_{l=1}^6$ found in Proposition 2.1, together with the connection 1-forms $(\sigma^{\tau})_j^i$ obtained in Proposition 2.3.

We first notice that the 2-forms $(Rm^{\tau})_{i}^{i}$ satisfy the following relations:

$$\begin{split} (Rm^\tau)_3^2 &= -(Rm^\tau)_4^1\,, \quad (Rm^\tau)_4^2 = (Rm^\tau)_3^1\,, \quad (Rm^\tau)_5^2 = -(Rm^\tau)_6^1\,, \quad (Rm^\tau)_6^2 = (Rm^\tau)_5^1\,, \\ (Rm^\tau)_5^4 &= -(Rm^\tau)_6^3\,, \quad (Rm^\tau)_6^4 = (Rm^\tau)_5^3\,. \end{split}$$

Next, we give the explicit expression of the 2-forms $\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}(Rm^{\tau})_j^i$, where $\Delta_e := \sqrt{r_e^2s_e^2 - |u_e|^2}$, for $(i,j) = \{(1,2),(1,3),(1,4),(1,5),(1,6),(3,4),(3,5),(3,6),(5,6)\}$:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}\big(Rm^\tau\big)_2^1 = -(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)\Delta_e^2\,e^{12} + (\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1}\Delta_e\,\big(e^{13} + e^{24}\big) \\ &\quad + \big((\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e2} - \big(\rho(\tau - 1)(\tau + 3) + \lambda(\tau^2 + 3)\big)r_e^2\big)\Delta_e\,e^{14} \\ &\quad - \big((\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e2} + \big(\rho(\tau - 1)(\tau + 3) - \lambda(\tau^2 + 3)\big)r_e^2\big)\Delta_e\,e^{23} \\ &\quad - \big((\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)|u_e|^2 - 2\lambda(\tau^2 + 3)u_{e2}r_e^2 - (\rho(\tau - 1)^2 - \lambda^2(\tau + 1)^2 + 4x(\tau - 1))r_e^4\big)\,e^{34} \\ &\quad - \lambda(\tau - 1)^2\big(\lambda r_e^2 - 2u_{e2}\big)r_e^2\,e^{56}\,, \end{split}$$

$$\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}(Rm^{\tau})_3^1 = (\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1}\Delta_e e^{12} \\
- \left[(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(\rho(\tau - 1)^2 - 2\lambda^2(\tau - 1) - \rho\lambda(\tau - 1)(\tau + 3) + x(\tau + 1)^2\right)r_e^4 \right]e^{13} \\
- \left[(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1}u_{e2} - \left(\rho(\tau - 1)(\tau + 3) + \lambda(\tau^2 + 3)\right)u_{e1}r_e^2 + \frac{y}{2}(\tau + 1)^2r_e^4 \right]e^{14} \\
+ \left[(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1}u_{e2} + \left(\rho(\tau - 1)(\tau + 3) - \lambda(\tau^2 + 3)\right)u_{e1}r_e^2 + \frac{y}{2}(\tau + 1)^2r_e^4 \right]e^{23} \\
- \left[(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(\rho(\tau - 1)^2 - 2\lambda^2(\tau - 1) + \rho\lambda(\tau - 1)(\tau + 3) + x(\tau + 1)^2\right)r_e^4 \right]e^{24} \\
+ \frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)|u_e|^2u_{e1} - 2\lambda(\tau^2 + 3)u_{e1}u_{e2}r_e^2 \\
+ \left(\lambda^2(\tau^2 + 3)u_{e1} + x(\tau^2 - 2\tau + 5)u_{e1} + y(\tau + 1)^2u_{e2}\right)r_e^4 - \lambda y(\tau^2 + 3)r_e^6 \right]e^{34} \\
+ \frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[(\tau - 1)^2\left(\lambda r_e^2 - 2u_{e2}\right)\left(\lambda u_{e1} - yr_e^2\right)r_e^2 e^{56} \right],$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}(Rm^\tau)_4^1 = \left((\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e2}+2\lambda(\tau-1)r_e^2\right)\Delta_e\,e^{12} \\ &-\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e1}u_{e2}+2\lambda(\tau-1)u_{e1}r_e^2-\frac{y}{2}(\tau+1)^2r_e^4\right]\left(e^{13}+e^{24}\right) \\ &-\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e2}^2-\left(\rho(\tau-1)(\tau+3)+\lambda(\tau^2-2\tau+5)\right)u_{e2}r_e^2 \right. \\ &\left. +\frac{1}{2}\left(\rho(\tau-1)^2-2\lambda^2(\tau-1)+\rho\lambda(\tau-1)(\tau+3)+x(\tau+1)^2\right)r_e^4\right]e^{14} \\ &+\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e2}^2+\left(\rho(\tau-1)(\tau+3)-\lambda(\tau^2-2\tau+5)\right)u_{e2}r_e^2 \right. \\ &\left. +\frac{1}{2}\left(\rho(\tau-1)^2-2\lambda^2(\tau-1)-\rho\lambda(\tau-1)(\tau+3)+x(\tau+1)^2\right)r_e^4\right]e^{23} \\ &+\frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[\left(\tau^2-2\tau+5\right)|u_e|^2u_{e2}+2\lambda\left((\tau-1)u_{e1}^2-(\tau^2-\tau+4)u_{e2}^2\right)r_e^2 \right. \\ &\left. +\left(\lambda^2(\tau^2+3)u_{e2}+x(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e2}-y(\tau+1)^2u_{e1}\right)r_e^4-\lambda x(\tau^2+3)r_e^6\right]e^{34} \\ &-\frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left(\tau-1\right)^2\left(2\lambda u_{e2}^2-\left(\lambda s_e^2+\lambda^2 u_{e2}-2yu_{e1}\right)r_e^2+\lambda xr_e^4\right)r_e^2\,e^{56}\;, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}\big(Rm^\tau\big)_5^1 = -\tfrac{\lambda}{2}(\tau-1)\big((\tau+1)u_{e2} - \rho(\tau-1)r_e^2\big)r_e^2\,e^{15} + (\tau-1)\big(\rho(\tau-1) - \tfrac{\lambda}{2}(\tau+1)\big)u_{e1}r_e^2\,e^{16} \\ &- \tfrac{\lambda}{2}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)u_{e1}r_e^2\,e^{25} \\ &- \tfrac{1}{2}(\tau-1)\Big(2(\tau+1)s_e^2 + 2\rho(\tau-1)u_{e2} - \lambda(\tau+1)u_{e2} - \rho\lambda(\tau-1)r_e^2\big)r_e^2\,e^{26} \\ &+ \tfrac{\lambda}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(|u_e|^2 - \lambda u_{e2}r_e^2 + xr_e^4\big)r_e^2\,e^{35} \\ &+ \tfrac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(2u_{e1}s_e^2 - (\lambda^2u_{e1} - 2xu_{e1} + 2yu_{e2})r_e^2 + \lambda yr_e^4\big)r_e^2\,e^{36} \\ &- \tfrac{\lambda}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(\lambda u_{e1} - yr_e^2\big)r_e^4\,e^{45} \\ &+ \tfrac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)\Big[2\rho(\tau-1)|u_e|^2 + (\tau+1)(2s_e^2u_{e2} - \lambda|u_e|^2) \\ &- \Big(2\rho(\tau-1)s_e^2 + (\tau+1)(2\lambda s_e^2 - \lambda^2u_{e2} - 2xu_{e2} - 2yu_{e1})\Big)r_e^2 - \lambda x(\tau+1)r_e^4\Big]r_e^2\,e^{46} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}\big(Rm^\tau\big)_6^1 = -\tfrac{\lambda}{2}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)u_{e1}r_e^2\,e^{15} - \tfrac{1}{2}(\tau-1)\big(2(\tau+1)s_e^2 - 2\rho(\tau-1)u_{e2} - \lambda(\tau+1)u_{e2} + \rho\lambda(\tau-1)r_e^2\big)r_e^2\,e^{16} \\ &\quad + \tfrac{\lambda}{2}(\tau-1)\big((\tau+1)u_{e2} + \rho(\tau-1)r_e^2\big)r_e^2\,e^{25} + (\tau-1)\big(\rho(\tau-1) + \tfrac{\lambda}{2}(\tau+1)\big)u_{e1}r_e^2\,e^{26} \\ &\quad - \tfrac{\lambda}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(\lambda u_{e1} - yr_e^2\Big)r_e^4\,e^{35} \\ &\quad - \tfrac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)\Big[2\rho(\tau-1)|u_e|^2 - (\tau+1)(2s_e^2u_{e2} - \lambda|u_e|^2) \\ &\quad - \Big(2\rho(\tau-1)s_e^2 - (\tau+1)(2\lambda s_e^2 - \lambda^2u_{e2} - 2xu_{e2} - 2yu_{e1})\Big)r_e^2 + \lambda x(\tau+1)r_e^4\Big]r_e^2\,e^{36} \\ &\quad - \tfrac{\lambda}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(|u_e|^2 - \lambda u_{e2}r_e^2 + xr_e^4\Big)r_e^2\,e^{45} \\ &\quad - \tfrac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(2u_{e1}s_e^2 - (\lambda^2u_{e1} - 2xu_{e1} + 2yu_{e2})r_e^2 + \lambda yr_e^4\Big)r_e^2\,e^{46}\,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}(Rm^\tau)_4^3 = -\left((\tau^2-2\tau+5)|u_e|^2+4\lambda(\tau-1)u_{e2}r_e^2-(\tau-1)(\rho(\tau-1)+4x)r_e^4\right)e^{12} \\ &+\frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)|u_e|^2u_{e1}+4\lambda(\tau-1)u_{e1}u_{e2}r_e^2 \\ &-\left(2\lambda^2(\tau-1)u_{e1}+\rho\lambda(\tau-1)(\tau+3)u_{e1}-x(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e1}+y(\tau+1)^2u_{e2}\right)r_e^4+y(\tau-1)(\rho(\tau+3)+2\lambda)r_e^6\right]e^{13} \\ &+\frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)|u_e|^2u_{e2}-\left(\rho(\tau-1)(\tau+3)|u_e|^2+\lambda(\tau^2+3)u_{e1}^2+\lambda(\tau^2-4\tau+7)u_{e2}^2\right)r_e^2 \\ &-\left(2\lambda^2(\tau-1)u_{e2}-\rho\lambda(\tau-1)(\tau+3)u_{e2}-x(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e2}-y(\tau+1)^2u_{e1}\right)r_e^4-x(\tau-1)(\rho(\tau+3)-2\lambda)r_e^6\right]e^{14} \\ &-\frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)|u_e|^2u_{e2}+\left(\rho(\tau-1)(\tau+3)|u_e|^2-\lambda(\tau^2+3)u_{e1}^2-\lambda(\tau^2-4\tau+7)u_{e2}^2\right)r_e^2 \\ &-\left(2\lambda^2(\tau-1)u_{e2}+\rho\lambda(\tau-1)(\tau+3)u_{e2}-x(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e2}-y(\tau+1)^2u_{e1}\right)r_e^4+x(\tau-1)(\rho(\tau+3)+2\lambda)r_e^6\right]e^{23} \\ &+\frac{1}{\Delta_e}\left[(\tau^2-2\tau+5)|u_e|^2u_{e1}+4\lambda(\tau-1)u_{e1}u_{e2}r_e^2 \\ &-\left(2\lambda^2(\tau-1)u_{e1}-\rho\lambda(\tau-1)(\tau+3)u_{e1}-x(\tau^2-2\tau+5)u_{e1}+y(\tau+1)^2u_{e2}\right)r_e^4-y(\tau-1)(\rho(\tau+3)-2\lambda)r_e^6\right]e^{24} \\ &-\frac{\tau^2-2\tau+5}{\Delta_e^2}\left[|u_e|^4-2\lambda|u_e|^2u_{e2}r_e^2+(2x+\lambda^2)|u_e|^2r_e^4-2\lambda(xu_{e2}+yu_{e1})r_e^6+(x^2+y^2)r_e^8\right]e^{34} \\ &+\lambda(\tau-1)^2(\lambda r_e^2-2u_{e2})r_e^2e^{56}\,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}(Rm^\tau)_5^3 = -\frac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(\lambda|u_e|^2 + (\lambda s_e^2 - 2yu_{e1})r_e^2\Big)r_e^2\,e^{15} + \frac{1}{\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2 - xr_e^2\Big)u_{e1}r_e^2\,e^{16} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\lambda u_{e1} - yr_e^2)\Big((\tau+1)u_{e2} + \rho(\tau-1)r_e^2\Big)r_e^2\,e^{25} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)\Big[2\rho(\tau-1)|u_e|^2 + \lambda(\tau+1)(u_{e1}^2 - u_{e2}^2) + 2(\tau+1)s_e^2u_{e2} \\ &\quad - \Big(2\rho\lambda(\tau-1)u_{e2} + \lambda(\tau+1)s_e^2 - 2x(\tau+1)u_{e2}\Big)r_e^2 + 2\rho x(\tau-1)r_e^4\Big]r_e^2\,e^{26} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[\lambda(\tau+1)|u_e|^2u_{e2} + \Big(\rho\lambda(\tau-1)|u_e|^2 + \lambda^2(\tau+1)(u_{e1}^2 - u_{e2}^2) - \lambda(\tau+1)s_e^2u_{e2}\Big)r_e^2 \\ &\quad - \Big(\rho\lambda s_e^2(\tau-1) - \lambda(\tau+1)(\lambda s_e^2 - 4yu_{e1})\Big)r_e^4 + 2y^2(\tau+1)r_e^6\Big]r_e^2\,e^{35} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[(2\rho(\tau-1) + \lambda(\tau+1))|u_e|^2u_{e1} - \Big(2\rho(\tau-1)s_e^2u_{e1} - (\tau+1)(\lambda s_e^2u_{e1} - 2\lambda^2u_{e1}u_{e2} - 2y|u_e|^2)\Big)r_e^2 \\ &\quad + 2\lambda(\tau+1)(xu_{e1} + yu_{e2})r_e^4 - 2xy(\tau+1)r_e^6\Big]r_e^2\,e^{36} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[\lambda|u_e|^2u_{e1} + (\lambda s_e^2u_{e1} - 2\lambda^2u_{e1}u_{e2} - 2y|u_e|^2)r_e^2 + 2\lambda(xu_{e1} + yu_{e2})r_e^4 - 2xyr_e^6\Big]r_e^2\,e^{45} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[\Big(2\rho(\tau-1)u_{e2} - (\tau+1)(\lambda u_{e2} - 2s_e^2)\Big)|u_e|^2 + \Big(\rho\lambda(\tau-1)s_e^2 + \lambda(\tau+1)(\lambda s_e^2 - 4xu_{e2})\Big)r_e^4 + 2x^2(\tau+1)r_e^6 \\ &\quad - \Big(\rho(\tau-1)(\lambda|u_e|^2 + 2s_e^2u_{e2}) + (\tau+1)(3\lambda s_e^2u_{e2} + \lambda^2(u_{e1}^2 - u_{e2}^2) - 4x|u_e|^2\Big)r_e^2\Big]r_e^2\,e^{46} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2}(Rm^\tau)_6^3 = \ \, \frac{1}{\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\lambda u_{e1}-yr_e^2)\Big((\tau+1)u_{e2}-\rho(\tau-1)r_e^2\Big)r_e^2\,e^{15} \\ &- \frac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)\Big[2\rho(\tau-1)|u_e|^2-(\tau+1)(\lambda(u_{e1}^2-u_{e2}^2)+2s_e^2u_{e2}) \\ &- \Big(2\rho\lambda(\tau-1)u_{e2}-\lambda(\tau+1)s_e^2+2x(\tau+1)u_{e2}\Big)r_e^2+2\rho x(\tau-1)r_e^4\Big]r_e^2\,e^{16} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big[\lambda(u_{e1}^2-u_{e2}^2)+(\lambda s_e^2-2yu_{e1})r_e^2\Big]r_e^2\,e^{25} - \frac{1}{\Delta_e}(\tau-1)(\tau+1)\Big[\lambda u_{e2}-s_e^2-xr_e^2\Big]u_{e1}\,r_e^2\,e^{26} \\ &- \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[\Big(2(\tau+1)s_e^2-(2\rho(\tau-1)+\lambda(\tau+1))u_{e2}\Big)|u_e|^2-\Big(\rho\lambda(\tau-1)s_e^2-\lambda(\tau+1)(\lambda s_e^2-4xu_{e2})\Big)r_e^4+2x^2(\tau+1)r_e^6 \\ &+ \Big(\rho(\tau-1)(2s_e^2u_{e2}+\lambda|u_e|^2)-(\tau+1)(3\lambda s_e^2u_{e2}+\lambda^2(u_{e1}^2-u_{e2}^2)-4x|u_e|^2)\Big)r_e^2\Big]r_e^2\,e^{36} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[\lambda(\tau+1)u_{e2}|u_e|^2-\Big(\rho\lambda(\tau-1)|u_e|^2-\lambda(\tau+1)(\lambda(u_{e1}^2-u_{e2}^2)-s_e^2u_{e2})\Big)r_e^2 \\ &+ \Big(\rho\lambda(\tau-1)s_e^2+\lambda(\tau+1)(\lambda s_e^2-4yu_{e1})\Big)r_e^4+2y^2(\tau+1)r_e^6\Big]r_e^2\,e^{45} \\ &- \frac{1}{2\Delta_e^2}(\tau-1)\Big[(2\rho(\tau-1)-\lambda(\tau+1))u_{e1}|u_e|^2-2\lambda(\tau+1)(xu_{e1}+yu_{e2})r_e^4+2xy(\tau+1)r_e^6 \\ &- \Big(2\rho(\tau-1)s_e^2u_{e1}+\lambda(\tau+1)s_e^2u_{e1}-2(\tau+1)(\lambda^2u_{e1}u_{e2}+y|u_e|^2)\Big)r_e^2\Big]r_e^2\,e^{46} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2} (Rm^\tau)_6^5 = -\frac{2r_e^4\Delta_e^2}{k_e^2} \big[\left(Rm^\tau \right)_2^1 + \left(Rm^\tau \right)_4^3 \big] - 4(\tau - 1)(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2 - xr_e^2) r_e^2 \, e^{12} \\ &\quad + \frac{2}{\Delta_e} (\tau - 1) \Big(2u_{e1}(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2) - (\rho \lambda + \lambda^2 + 2x) u_{e1} r_e^2 + (\rho + \lambda) y r_e^4 \Big) r_e^2 \, e^{13} \\ &\quad + \frac{2}{\Delta_e} (\tau - 1) \Big(2u_{e2} + (\rho - \lambda) r_e^2 \Big) \Big(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2 - x r_e^2 \Big) r_e^2 \, e^{14} \\ &\quad - \frac{2}{\Delta_e} (\tau - 1) \Big(2u_{e2} - (\rho + \lambda) r_e^2 \Big) \Big(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2 - x r_e^2 \Big) r_e^2 \, e^{23} \\ &\quad + \frac{2}{\Delta_e} (\tau - 1) \Big(2u_{e1}(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2) + (\rho \lambda - \lambda^2 - 2x) u_{e1} r_e^2 - (\rho - \lambda) y r_e^4 \Big) r_e^2 \, e^{24} \\ &\quad - \frac{4}{\Delta_e^2} (\tau - 1) \Big[(\lambda u_{e2} - s_e^2) |u_e|^2 + \Big(\lambda u_{e2} s_e^2 - \lambda^2 |u_e|^2 - x |u_e|^2 \Big) r_e^2 + \Big(2\lambda (x u_{e2} + y u_{e1}) - x s_e^2 \Big) r_e^4 - (x^2 + y^2) r_e^6 \Big] r_e^2 \, e^{34} \; . \end{split}$$

7. Appendix B

This Appendix is devoted to the computation of $\text{Tr}(A^{\kappa} \wedge A^{\kappa})$ for a Gauduchon connection ∇^{κ} on the holomorphic tangent bundle $T^{1,0}G$. In particular, the proof of Lemma 5.2 will follow.

Let (G, J) be a Lie group equipped with a left-invariant complex structure. Let $\{\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3\}$ be a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe satisfying (41). Let also ω and H be two left-invariant J-Hermitian metrics on G given by

$$\omega = \frac{i}{2} (r^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + s^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + k^2 \zeta^{3\bar{3}}) \quad \text{and} \quad H = \frac{i}{2} (\tilde{r}^2 \zeta^{1\bar{1}} + \tilde{s}^2 \zeta^{2\bar{2}} + \tilde{k}^2 \zeta^{3\bar{3}}), \quad (57)$$

for some $r, s, k, \tilde{r}, \tilde{s}, \tilde{k} \in \mathbb{R}^*$. If ∇^{κ} is a Gauduchon connection of H and A^{κ} its curvature form, to compute the trace $\operatorname{Tr}(A^{\kappa} \wedge A^{\kappa})$ by using (22) and (23) we need to write the connection 1-forms σ^{κ} in terms of an adapted basis $\{e^l\}_{l=1}^6$ for ω (see Proposition 2.1). In the following, we will denote by $(\sigma^{\kappa})_j^i$ and $(A^{\kappa})_j^i$ the connection 1-forms and the curvature 2-forms, respectively, written in terms of $\{e^l\}_{l=1}^6$.

Let $\{\tilde{e}^l\}_{l=1}^6$ be an *adapted basis* for the metric H and $\{\tilde{e}_l\}_{l=1}^6$ its dual. In view of Section 2.2, the connection 1-forms $(\sigma^{\kappa})_{\tilde{i}}^{\tilde{i}}$ associated to ∇^{κ} are given by

$$\nabla_{\tilde{e}_k} \tilde{e}_j = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{\tilde{j}}^{\tilde{1}}(\tilde{e}_k) \, \tilde{e}_1 + \dots + (\sigma^{\kappa})_{\tilde{j}}^{\tilde{6}}(\tilde{e}_k) \, \tilde{e}_6 \, .$$

On the other hand, if $\{e_l\}_{l=1}^6$ denotes the dual basis of $\{e^l\}_{l=1}^6$, and $M := (M_j^p)$ is the change-of-basis matrix from $\{e_l\}$ to $\{\tilde{e}_l\}$, i.e.

$$\tilde{e}_j = M_j^p e_p$$
, for every $1 \le j \le 6$,

then one gets

$$\nabla_{\tilde{e}_k} \tilde{e}_j = \nabla_{M_k^p \, e_p} (M_j^q \, e_q) = M_k^p \, M_j^q \, \nabla_{e_p} e_q = M_k^p \, M_j^q \, (\sigma^\kappa)_q^l (e_p) \, e_l = M_k^p \, M_j^q \, N_l^i \, (\sigma^\kappa)_q^l (e_p) \tilde{e}_i \, ,$$

with $N := M^{-1}$ (that is, $e_l = N_l^i \tilde{e}_i$), and hence

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{\tilde{j}}^{\tilde{i}}(\tilde{e}_k) = \tilde{g}(\nabla_{\tilde{e}_k}\tilde{e}_j, \tilde{e}_i) = M_k^p M_j^q N_l^i (\sigma^{\kappa})_q^l(e_p).$$

$$(58)$$

Since the (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^1,\zeta^2,\zeta^3\}$ only depends on the complex structure J, by means of (15), (19) and (21) we have

$$\begin{split} e^1 + i \, e^2 &= r \, \zeta^1 \,, \qquad \tilde{r} \, \zeta^1 = \tilde{e}^1 + i \, \tilde{e}^2 \,, \\ e^3 + i \, e^4 &= s \, \zeta^2 \,, \qquad \tilde{s} \, \zeta^2 = \tilde{e}^3 + i \, \tilde{e}^4 \,, \\ e^5 + i \, e^6 &= k \, \zeta^3 \,, \qquad \tilde{k} \, \zeta^3 = \tilde{e}^5 + i \, \tilde{e}^6 \,, \end{split}$$

which directly implies

$$\tilde{e}^1 = \frac{\tilde{r}}{r}e^1, \qquad \tilde{e}^2 = \frac{\tilde{r}}{r}e^2, \qquad \tilde{e}^3 = \frac{\tilde{s}}{s}e^3, \qquad \tilde{e}^4 = \frac{\tilde{s}}{s}e^4, \qquad \tilde{e}^5 = \frac{\tilde{k}}{k}e^5, \qquad \tilde{e}^6 = \frac{\tilde{k}}{k}e^6.$$

Thereby, the change-of-basis matrix M from $\{e_l\}$ to $\{\tilde{e}_l\}$ is given by the diagonal matrix

$$M := \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{r}{\tilde{r}}, \frac{r}{\tilde{r}}, \frac{s}{\tilde{s}}, \frac{s}{\tilde{s}}, \frac{k}{\tilde{k}}, \frac{k}{\tilde{k}}\right).$$

Thus, by means of (58), one gets

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{j}^{i}(e_{k}) = M_{i}^{i} N_{j}^{j} N_{k}^{k} (\sigma^{\kappa})_{\tilde{j}}^{\tilde{i}} (\tilde{e}_{k}), \qquad (59)$$

or, equivalently,

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})^i_j = M^i_i \, N^j_j \, N^k_k \, (\sigma^{\kappa})^{\tilde{i}}_{\tilde{j}}(\tilde{e}_k) \, e^k \, .$$

Finally, since the connection 1-forms $(\sigma^{\kappa})_{\tilde{j}}^{\tilde{i}}$ are given in the proof of Proposition 2.3, a direct computation by means of (59) yields that

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{2}^{1} = -\frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{k\,\tilde{r}^{2}}(\kappa-1)\,e^{6}\,,$$

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{5}^{1} = -\frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,k\,\tilde{r}^{2}}(\kappa+1)\,e^{1} + \frac{r\,\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,s\,k\,\tilde{r}^{2}}\,\rho(\kappa-1)\,e^{3}\,,$$

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{1} = \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,k\,\tilde{r}^{2}}(\kappa+1)\,e^{2} + \frac{r\,\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,s\,k\,\tilde{r}^{2}}\,\rho(\kappa-1)\,e^{4}\,,$$

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{4}^{3} = \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,y(\kappa-1)\,e^{5} - \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,x(\kappa-1)\,e^{6}\,,$$

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{5}^{3} = -\frac{s\,\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,r\,k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,\rho(\kappa-1)\,e^{1} - \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,x(\kappa+1)\,e^{3} - \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,y(\kappa+1)\,e^{4}\,,$$

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{3} = -\frac{s\,\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,r\,k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,\rho(\kappa-1)\,e^{2} - \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,y(\kappa+1)\,e^{3} + \frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\,k\,\tilde{s}^{2}}\,x(\kappa+1)\,e^{4}\,,$$

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{3}^{1} = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{4}^{1} = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{3}^{2} = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{4}^{2} = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{5} = 0\,,$$

together with the following relations

$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{5}^{2} = -(\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{1}, \quad (\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{2} = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{5}^{1}, \quad (\sigma^{\kappa})_{5}^{4} = -(\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{3}, \quad (\sigma^{\kappa})_{6}^{4} = (\sigma^{\kappa})_{5}^{3},$$

and
$$(\sigma^{\kappa})_{i}^{i} = -(\sigma^{\kappa})_{i}^{j}$$
.

Lemma 7.1. Let G be a 2-step nilpotent Lie group equipped with a left-invariant complex structure J which admits a left-invariant (1,0)-coframe $\{\zeta^l\}_{l=1}^3$ satisfying (41). Let ω and H be two left-invariant J-Hermitian metrics defined by (57). Then, for any Gauduchon connection ∇^{κ} associated to H, the trace of its curvature satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A^{\kappa} \wedge A^{\kappa}) = C\zeta^{12\bar{1}\bar{2}}$$

where $C = C(\rho, x, y; \omega, H; \kappa)$ is a constant depending both on the Hermitian structures and the connection. More precisely, we have

$$\begin{split} \text{Tr} \left(A^{\kappa} \wedge A^{\kappa} \right) &= \frac{\left(\kappa - 1 \right) \tilde{k}^4}{2k^2 \tilde{r}^6 \tilde{s}^6} \Big\{ \rho(\kappa - 1) \Big[(2\kappa \, r^2 \tilde{k}^2 + k^2 \tilde{r}^2) \tilde{s}^6 + (x^2 + y^2) (2\kappa \, s^2 \tilde{k}^2 + k^2 \tilde{s}^2) \tilde{r}^6 \Big] \\ &\quad + 4x (\kappa - 1) \Big((x^2 + y^2) \tilde{r}^4 + \tilde{s}^4 \Big) k^2 \tilde{r}^2 \tilde{s}^2 \\ &\quad - x (\kappa + 1)^2 \Big((x^2 + y^2) s^2 \tilde{r}^6 + r^2 \tilde{s}^6 \Big) \tilde{k}^2 \Big\} \, \zeta^{12 \bar{1} \bar{2}}. \end{split}$$

Proof. Let $(\sigma^{\kappa})_{j}^{i}$ be the connection 1-forms of the Gauduchon connection ∇^{κ} given in (60). By means of (12) and (22), a direct computations yields that the curvature 2-forms $(A^{\kappa})_{j}^{i}$ of ∇^{κ} are

$$\begin{split} (A^{\kappa})_{2}^{1} &= \frac{4(\kappa-1)k^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\tilde{k}^{2} - (\kappa+1)^{2}r^{2}\tilde{k}^{4}}{2r^{2}k^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} e^{12} - \frac{\rho(\kappa-1)\left((\kappa+1)r^{2}\tilde{k}^{2} + 2k^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{2}}{2rsk^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} (e^{14} + e^{23}) \\ &\quad + \frac{(\kappa-1)\left(\rho(\kappa-1)r^{2}\tilde{k}^{2} + 4xk^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{2}}{2s^{2}k^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} e^{34} \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{3}^{1} &= -\frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)^{2} + x(\kappa+1)^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{4}}{4k^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}} (e^{13} + e^{24}) - \frac{y(\kappa+1)^{2}\tilde{k}^{4}}{4k^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}} (e^{14} - e^{23}) \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{4}^{1} &= \frac{y(\kappa+1)^{2}\tilde{k}^{4}}{4k^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}} (e^{13} + e^{24}) - \frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)^{2} + x(\kappa+1)^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{4}}{4k^{2}\tilde{r}^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}} (e^{14} - e^{23}) \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{5}^{1} &= -\frac{(\kappa-1)(\kappa+1)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2k^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} e^{26} - \frac{\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}r\tilde{k}^{4}}{2sk^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} e^{46} \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{6}^{1} &= -\frac{(\kappa-1)(\kappa+1)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2k^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} e^{16} + \frac{\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}r\tilde{k}^{4}}{2sk^{2}\tilde{r}^{4}} e^{36} \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{4}^{3} &= \frac{(\kappa-1)\left(\rho(\kappa-1)s^{2}\tilde{k}^{2} + 4xk^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{2}}{2r^{2}k^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} e^{12} + \frac{\rho y(\kappa-1)\left((\kappa+1)s^{2}\tilde{k}^{2} + 2k^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{2}}{2rsk^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} (e^{13} - e^{24}) \\ &- \frac{\rho x(\kappa-1)\left((\kappa+1)s^{2}\tilde{k}^{2} + 2k^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{2}}{2rsk^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} (e^{14} + e^{23}) + \frac{(x^{2}+y^{2})\left(4(\kappa-1)k^{2}\tilde{s}^{2} - (\kappa+1)^{2}s^{2}\tilde{k}^{2}\right)\tilde{k}^{2}}{2s^{2}k^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} e^{34} \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{5}^{3} &= -\frac{\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}s\tilde{k}^{4}}{2rsk^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} (y e^{25} - x e^{26}) - \frac{(\kappa-1)(\kappa+1)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2k^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} \left(xy(e^{25} - e^{36}) - x^{2}e^{26} + y^{2}e^{35}\right) \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{6}^{5} &= -\frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}s\tilde{k}^{4}}{2r^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} (y e^{15} - x e^{16}) + \frac{(\kappa-1)(\kappa+1)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2k^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} \left(xy(e^{25} - e^{36}) - x^{2}e^{26} + y^{2}e^{35}\right) \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{6}^{5} &= -\frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}s^{2}\tilde{r}^{4} - (\kappa+1)^{2}r^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}\right)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2r^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} \left(e^{14} + e^{23}\right) - \frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)(\kappa+1)s\tilde{k}^{4}}{2r^{2}\tilde{s}^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}} \left(e^{14} - e^{23}\right) \,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_{6}^{5} &= -\frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}s^{2}\tilde{r}^{4} - (\kappa+1)^{2}r^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}\right)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2r^{2}\tilde{s}^{4}\tilde{s}^{4}}} \left(e^{14} - e^{23}\right) - \frac{\left(\rho(\kappa-1)^{2}s\tilde{k}^{4} - (\kappa+1)^{2}s\tilde{k}^{4}\right)\tilde{k}^{4}}{2r^$$

together with the following relations

$$\begin{split} (A^{\kappa})_3^2 &= -(A^{\kappa})_4^1\,, \quad (A^{\kappa})_4^2 = (A^{\kappa})_3^1\,, \quad (A^{\kappa})_5^2 = -(A^{\kappa})_6^1\,, \quad (A^{\kappa})_6^2 = (A^{\kappa})_5^1\,, \\ (A^{\kappa})_5^4 &= -(A^{\kappa})_6^3\,, \quad (A^{\kappa})_6^4 = (A^{\kappa})_5^3\,. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the claim follows by using (23) and (14).

References

- [1] B. Andreas, M. Gracía-Fernández, Heterotic non-Kähler geometries via polystable bundles on Calabi-Yau threefolds. *J. Geom. Phys.*, **62** (2012), 183–188.
- [2] B. Andreas, M. Gracía-Fernández, Solutions of the Strominger system via stable bundles on Calabi-Yau threefolds. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, **315** (2012), 153–168.
- [3] R.M. Arroyo, R.A. Lafuente, The long-time behavior of the homogeneous pluriclosed flow. *Proc. Lon. Math. Soc.* **3** (2019), 1–24.
- [4] M. Ceballos, A. Otal, L. Ugarte, R. Villacampa, Invariant complex structures on 6-nilmanifolds: classification, Frölicher spectral sequence and special Hermitian metrics. *J. Geom. Anal.* **26** (2016), 252–286.
- [5] N. Enrietti, A. Fino, L. Vezzoni, The pluriclosed flow on nilmanifolds and tamed symplectic forms. *J. Geom. Anal.* **25** (2015), 883–909.
- [6] T. Fei, A construction of non-Kähler Calabi-Yau manifolds and new solutions to the Strominger system. *Adv. Math.*, **302** (2016), 529–550.
- [7] T. Fei, Z. Huang, S. Picard, The Anomaly flow over Riemannian surfaces. *Int. Math. Res. Not.*, Doi: 10.1093/imrn/rnz076 (2019).
- [8] T. Fei, Z. Huang, S. Picard, A construction of infinitely many solutions to the Strominger system. *To appear* in J. Differential Geom., (2017).
- [9] T. Fei, D.H. Phong, Unification of the Kähler-Ricci and Anomaly flows. arXiv:1905.02274[mathDG], (2019).

- [10] T. Fei, S. Picard, Anomaly Flow and T-Duality. To appear in Pure Appl. Math. Q., (2019).
- [11] T. Fei, S.-T. Yau, Invariant Solutions to the Strominger System on Complex Lie Groups and Their Quotients. Commun. Math. Phys., 338 (2015), 1183–1195.
- [12] M. Fernández, S. Ivanov, L. Ugarte, D. Vassilev, Non-Kähler heterotic string solutions with non-zero fluxes and non-constant dilaton. *J. High Energy Phys.*, **6** (2014), 1–23.
- [13] M. FERNÁNDEZ, S. IVANOV, L. UGARTE, R. VILLACAMPA, Non-Kähler Heterotic String Compactifications with Non-Zero Fluxes and Constant Dilaton. Commun. Math. Phys. 288 (2009), 677–697.
- [14] A. Fino, G. Grantcharov, L. Vezzoni, Solutions to the Hull-Strominger system with torus symmetry. arXiv:1901.10322[mathDG], (2019).
- [15] A. Fino, M. Parton, S. Salamon, Families of strong KT structures in six dimensions. *Comment. Math. Helv.* **79** (2004), 317–340.
- [16] A. Fino, L. Ugarte, On generalized Gauduchon metrics. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. 56 (2013), 733-753.
- [17] J. Fu, Z. Wang, D. Wu, Semilinear equations, the γ_k function, and generalized Gauduchon metrics. *J. Eur. Math. Soc.* **15** (2011), 659–680.
- [18] J. Fu, S.-T. Yau, A Monge-Ampère type equation motivated by string theory. Comm. Anal. Geom., 15 (2007), 29-76.
- [19] J. Fu, S.-T. Yau, The theory of superstring with flux on non-Kähler manifolds and the complex Monge-Ampère equation. *J. Differential Geom.*, **78** (2008), 369–428.
- [20] M. GARCÍA-FERNÁNDEZ, Lectures on the Strominger system, Travaux Mathématiques, Special issue: School GEOQUANT at the ICMAT, vol. XXIV (2016), 7–61.
- [21] P. GAUDUCHON, Hermitian connections and Dirac operators. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B (7) 11(2) (1997), 257–288.
- [22] C. Hull, Compactifications of the heterotic superstring. Phys. Lett. B, 178 (1986), 357–364.
- [23] S. IVANOV, Heterotic supersymmetry, anomaly cancellation and equations of motion. Phys. Lett. B, 685 (2010), 190–196.
- [24] S. IVANOV, G. PAPADOPOULOS, Vanishing theorems on $(\ell|k)$ -strong Kähler manifolds with torsion. Adv. Math. **237** (2013), 147–164.
- [25] R. Lafuente, M, Pujia, L. Vezzoni, Hermitian Curvature flow on unimodular Lie groups and static invariant metrics. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **373**(6) (2020), 3967–3993.
- [26] A. LATORRE, L. UGARTE, R. VILLACAMPA, On generalized Gauduchon nilmanifolds. Differential Geom. Appl. 54 (2017), part A, 150–164.
- [27] J. Li, S.-T. Yau, The existence of supersymmetric string theory with torsion. J. Differential Geom., 70 (2005), 143–181.
- [28] A. Otal, L. Ugarte, R. Villacampa, Invariant solutions to the Strominger system and the heterotic equations of motion. Nuclear Phys. B 920 (2017), 442–474.
- [29] F. Pediconi, M. Pujia, Hermitian curvature flow on complex locally homogeneous surfaces. Annali di Matematica 200 (2019), 815–844.
- [30] D.H. Phong, S. Picard, X. Zhang, Geometric flows and Strominger systems. Math. Z. 288 (2018), 101–113.
- [31] D.H. Phong, S. Picard, X. Zhang, Anomaly flows. Comm. Anal. Geom. 26 (2018), 955-1008.
- [32] D.H. Phong, S. Picard, X. Zhang, The Anomaly flow and the Fu-Yau equation. *Ann. PDE* 4 (2018), no. 2, Art. 13, 60 pp.
- [33] D.H. Phong, S. Picard, X. Zhang, New curvature flows in complex geometry. Surveys in Differential Geometry 2017. Celebrating the 50th anniversary of the Journal of Differential Geometry, 331–364, Surv. Differ. Geom., 22, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2018.
- [34] D.H. Phong, S. Picard, X. Zhang, The Anomaly flow on unimodular Lie groups. *Contemp. Math.* **735** (2019), 217–237.
- [35] D.H. Phong, S. Picard, X. Zhang, A flow of conformally balanced metrics with Kähler fixed points. Math. Ann., 374, no. 3-4, (2019), 2005–2040.
- [36] M. Pujia, Expanding solitons to the Hermitian curvature flow on complex Lie groups. Differential Geom. Appl. 64 (2019), 201–216.
- [37] M. Pujia, Positive Hermitian curvature flow on complex 2-step nilpotent Lie groups. manuscripta math., (2020), DOI: 10.1007/s00229-020-01251-w.
- [38] M. Pujia, The Hull-Strominger system and the Anomaly flow on a class of solvmanifolds. arXiv:2103.09854 [math.DG], (2021).

- [39] M. Pujia, L. Vezzoni, A remark on the Bismut-Ricci form on 2-step nilmanifolds. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. I, 356 (2018), 222–226.
- [40] X. Rong, Convergence and collapsing theorems in Riemannian geometry. Handbook of Geometric Analysis, No. 2, Advanced Lectures in Mathematics, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2010, 193–299.
- [41] J. Streets, G. Tian, Hermitian curvature flow. J. Eur. Math. Soc., 13 (2011), 601-634.
- [42] A. STROMINGER, Superstrings with torsion. Nuclear Phys. B, 274, no. 2, (1986), 253–284.
- [43] L. Ugarte, Hermitian structures on six-dimensional nilmanifolds. Transform. Groups, 12 (2007), 175–202.
- [44] L. Ugarte, R. Villacampa, Non-nilpotent complex geometry of nilmanifolds and heterotic supersymmetry. Asian J. Math., 2 (2018), 229–246.
- [45] L. UGARTE, R. VILLACAMPA, Balanced Hermitian geometry on 6-dimensional nilmanifolds. Forum Math. 27 (2015), 1025–1070.
- [46] Y. Ustinovskiy, Hermitian curvature flow on complex homogeneous manifolds. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa CI. Sci. (2019), to appear.
- (M. Pujia*) Dipartimento di Matematica G. Peano, Università di Torino, V. Carlo Alberto 10, 10123 Torino, Italy

Email address: mattia.pujia@unito.it - mattia.pujia.math@gmail.com

(L. Ugarte) Departamento de Matemáticas-I.U.M.A., Universidad de Zaragoza, Campus Plaza San Francisco, 50009 Zaragoza, Spain

Email address: ugarte@unizar.es